
 

Date of meeting 
 

Wednesday, 6th March, 2013  

Time 
 

7.00 pm  

Venue 
 

Committee Room 1, Civic Offices, Merrial Street, 
Newcastle-under-Lyme, Staffordshire, ST5 2AG 

 

Contact Nick Lamper 
01782 742227 

   
  

 
 
 

Cabinet 
 

AGENDA 

 

PART 1 – OPEN AGENDA 

 

1 Apologies    

2 MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING   (Pages 1 - 6) 

 Held on 6 February 2013, to be approved as a correct record. 
 

3 Declarations of Interest    

4 IRRECOVERABLE ITEMS   (Pages 7 - 16) 

 The appendices to the report contain exempt information as defined in paragraphs 1 and 3 
of Schedule 12A of Part I of the Local Government Act 1972 and are therefore not for 
publication. 
 

5 Telecoms Contracts Consolidation   (Pages 17 - 22) 

6 LOCALISM ACT - COMMUNITY RIGHT TO CHALLENGE AND 
COMMUNITY RIGHT TO BID   

(Pages 23 - 64) 

 The appendices to the report are available on the online version of the agenda for the 
meeting at:- 
 
http://moderngov.newcastle-
staffs.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=118&MId=1597&Ver=4 
 

7 Apprenticeships   (Pages 65 - 74) 

8 Affordable Housing Regeneration Partnership   (Pages 75 - 80) 

9 Home Energy Conservation Act 1995 Progress Report - March 
2013-2015   

(Pages 81 - 88) 

10 Newcastles of the World Alliance   (Pages 89 - 94) 

11 Establishment of Cabinet Panel   (Pages 95 - 96) 

12 Council Plan 2013-16   
 

(Pages 97 - 122) 

Public Document Pack



13 URGENT BUSINESS    

 To consider any business which is urgent within the meaning of Section 100B(4) of the 
Local Government Act 1972. 
 

 
Members: Councillors Mrs Bates, Mrs Beech, Boden, Kearon, Snell, Stubbs and 

Williams 
 

 

Members of the Council: If you identify any personal training/development requirements from 
the items included in this agenda or through issues raised during the meeting, please bring 
them to the attention of the Democratic Services Officer at the close of the meeting.

 
Officers will be in attendance prior to the meeting for informal discussions on agenda items. 



Cabinet - 06/02/13 

1 

CABINET 

 
7.00 pm, Wednesday, 6 February, 2013 

 
Present:-  Councillor Gareth Snell – in the Chair 

 
Councillors Mrs Bates, Mrs Beech, Boden, Kearon, Stubbs and Williams 

 
In attendance:- John Sellgren (Chief Executive), Kelvin Turner (Executive 

Director, Resources and Support Services, Kneale Clifton 
(Executive Director, Regeneration and Development), Dave 
Adams (Executive Director, Operational Services), Paul Clisby 
(Head of Central Services), Nick Lamper (Senior Member 
Services Officer), Louise Stevenson (Scrutiny Officer), Janet 
Baddeley (Communications Team Leader) and Robin Wiles 
(Partnerships Officer (Community Development)) 

 
1. MINUTES  

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 26 January were approved as a correct record 
and signed by the chairman. 
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

3. EMPLOYER SUPPORTED VOLUNTEERING  
 
Councillor Williams, portfolio holder for Stronger and Active Neighbourhoods, 
introduced a report outlining opportunities the council had to promote and develop an 
Employer Supported Volunteering (ESV) scheme whilst recognising the opportunities 
the council already provided and supported.  The report set out a planned pilot to 
explore these opportunities in the first instance in order to ascertain whether an ESV 
scheme would be workable for the council and its staff. 
 
Councillor Boden noted that many employees already did some voluntary work 
outside working hours and the Leader thanked the officers who had undertaken work 
on proposal. 
 
The Chief Executive advised that the North Staffordshire Volunteer Centre had 
confirmed at a meeting earlier in the week that they would be able to mobilise 
quickly. 
 
Resolved: 
 

(1) That the report be noted; 
(2) That support be given to the establishment of an ESV pilot scheme for the 

council, following consultation with staff, followed by an initial open forum 
with employees and other interested parties on the concept of 
volunteering to gauge the level of interest in the organisation; 

(3) That, in the event of a pilot being set up, a review of this pilot be 
supported in order to ascertain whether a permanent ESV scheme should 
be set up in the council; and 

Agenda Item 2

Page 1



Cabinet - 06/02/13 

 

2 

(4) That the proposal from North Staffordshire Volunteer Centre (NSVC) be 
endorsed, this being designed to support the development of an ESV pilot 
for the Borough Council. 

 
4. PUBLIC SERVICES (SOCIAL VALUE) ACT 2012  

 
Councillor Stubbs, portfolio holder for Finance and Budget Management, introduced 
a report outlining the Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012, and what Newcastle-
under-Lyme Borough Council needed to do in order to comply with the legislation. 
 
The act required public authorities to have regard to economic, social and 
environmental well-being in connection with public service contracts, and for 
connected purposes.  An action plan was appended to the report setting out the 
steps required to ensure compliance. 
 
The Leader noted that the proposals would link in with the authority’s aim to become 
a co-operative council. 
 
Resolved: That the steps set out in the Action Plan submitted at Appendix B be 

approved. 
 

5. REVENUE AND CAPITAL BUDGETS AND COUNCIL TAX 2013-14  
 
Councillor Stubbs, portfolio holder for Finance and Budget Management, introduced 
a report to enable Cabinet to recommend the 2013/14 General Fund Revenue 
Budget and the 2013/14 Capital Programme to the full council, meeting on 27 
February 2013, following consideration of comments received from the 
Transformation and Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting of 24 
January 2013 and the Scrutiny Café held on 17 January 2013. 
 
Councillor Shenton, Chair of the Transformation and Resources Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, reported on the success of the scrutiny meeting and café and 
noted that answers had been received to all questions raised by members.  The 
Leader thanked those members who had been involved and engaged with the 
process. 
 
Resolved: 
 

(1) That it be recommended to full council that the revised minimum balances 
requirement be £1,300,000, with the excess of £200,000 above the 
current levels being transferred to the Insurance Fund (£150,000) and the 
Renewals and Repairs Fund (£50,000); 

(2) That it be recommended to full council that £80,000 be transferred out of 
the Standards Fund into the MMI Provision; 

(3) That the 2013/14 General Fund Revenue Budget and the Capital 
Programme 2013/14 as detailed in the report to Cabinet dated 16 January 
2013 be recommended to full council for approval; and 

(4) That the charges in respect of waiver permits be approved and added to 
the Scale of Fees and Charges. 

 
6. PROCUREMENT OF CORPORATE MAIL SERVICES  

 
The Leader and Councillor Stubbs, portfolio holder for Finance and Budget 
Management, jointly introduced a report to inform Cabinet of the outcome of the 
tendering process for the provision of corporate mail services and to obtain approval 

Page 2



Cabinet - 06/02/13 

3 

for the appointment of the successful contractor, subject to the satisfactory outcome 
of a pilot exercise. 
 
Councillor Kearon enquired as to whether a move from Royal Mail would impact on 
employment at the company’s local offices and was advised that the ultimate delivery 
responsibilities would still remain with the company. 
 
Resolved: That a contract be issued to UK Mail (the successful provider) for a 

period of two years with the option to extend to August 2016, subject 
to the completion of the pilot exercise of up to six months duration, for 
the delivery of corporate mail services. 

 
7. JOINT HOUSING ALLOCATION POLICY - MINOR AMENDMENT  

 
Councillor Boden, portfolio holder for Regeneration, Planning and Town Centres, 
introduced a report highlighting a request for an amendment to the Joint Housing 
Allocations Policy from Aspire Housing prior to the Policy launch in the New Year.  
The request had been made following recent investigations into the housing 
association’s void performance, which had revealed that refusal rates were high and 
refusal reasons suggested that customers appeared to be bidding on properties 
without giving full consideration to whether they would actually be prepared to accept 
a tenancy for the property. 
 
A range of options had been considered and these were set out in detail in the report. 
 
It was proposed that the Joint Housing Allocations Policy be amended to permit 
applicants to place an unlimited number of bids on properties advertised each week 
under the NHA Options CBL scheme; however if an applicant made an unreasonable 
refusal of an offer or did not respond to an offer within the timescale on the offer 
notification, that their application would be suspended for six months. 
 
It was noted that Councillors Boden and Williams had been appointed to the board of 
Aspire Housing as representatives of the council, and it was therefore unnecessary 
for them to declare interests in that regard. 
 
Resolved: That the proposed amendment to the Joint Housing Allocations Policy 

as set out above be approved. 
 

8. NEWCASTLE-UNDER-LYME CO-OPERATIVE STRATEGY 2013-2015  
 
The Leader introduced a report providing the Cabinet with a draft of the Co-operative 
Strategy 2013-2015. 
 
The Strategy had been developed in line with the other key council strategies on 
Economic Development, Health and Wellbeing, and Stronger and Safer 
Communities.  It set out the details around the stated aim of the council to become a 
Co-operative Council, an ambition which was also reflected in the key priority on 
becoming a Co-operative Council within the Council Plan. 
 
In addition to the recommendations set out in the report, the Leader proposed that 
the strategy be placed before the relevant scrutiny committee for its consideration 
and comment. 
 
 
 

Page 3



Cabinet - 06/02/13 

 

4 

Resolved: 
 

(1) That the content of the strategy be noted; 
(2) That the content as submitted be endorsed; 
(3) That the strategy be circulated to partners and communities and further 

updates on its development be submitted at future Cabinet meetings; and 
(4) That the strategy be placed before the relevant scrutiny committee for its 

consideration and comment. 
 

9. FINANCIAL AND PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT REPORT TO END OF 
QUARTER 3 (DECEMBER 2012)  

 
Councillor Stubbs, portfolio holder for Finance and Budget Management, introduced 
the Financial and Performance Management Report for the third quarter of 2012/13. 
 
The other Cabinet members provided information in relation to the performance 
within their respective portfolios, with particular reference to areas of particularly 
strong performance or concern. 
 
Resolved: 
 

(1) That the contents of the report be noted the monitoring and scrutiny of 
performance alongside finances be continued; 

(2) That the new style of the performance report be developed further for 
2013-14 as detailed, in line with the Performance Management 
Framework Review and the Council Plan 2013-14 to 2015-16, the 
intention being to report performance information in a new format as the 
work is progressed; 

(3) That the comments raised at the Transformation and Resources Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee meeting held on 24 January 2013 be noted. 

 
10. SUPPORT AND MAINTENANCE CONTRACT FOR COUNCIL TELEPHONY  

 
The Leader introduced a report seeking Cabinet approval for the renewal of the 
council’s telephony support and maintenance contract directly with Mitel Networks; 
the manufacturer of the council’s existing telephony system. 
 
The report set out how Mitel had submitted the most economically advantageous 
quotation for the work, and noted that the council had built an excellent relationship 
with the company over a period of ten years.  Details were provided of the evaluation 
of the three quotes submitted.  The recommended course of action to award the 
contract to Mitel was in accordance with the council’s constitution and the European 
Procurement Rules and UK Regulations. 
 
Councillor Stubbs observed that the procurement process had been a robust one. 
 
Resolved: 
 

(1) That Standing Orders relating to Contracts be waived on the grounds of 
2b(v) which states ‘goods and services are obtainable only from a limit 
numbers of persons or bodies’; and 

(2) That the support and maintenance contract be awarded to Mitel Networks 
(Mitel) with effect from 1 April 2013 for a period of three years. 

 
 

Page 4



Cabinet - 06/02/13 

5 

11. CHARGING FOR PRE-APPLICATION PLANNING ADVICE  
 
Councillor Boden, portfolio holder for Regeneration, Planning and Town Centres, 
introduced a report giving Cabinet the opportunity to decide whether or not the 
council should agree to introduce charging for planning advice, and the means by 
which this could be done. 
 
The introduction of charges for pre-application advice was permitted under Section 
93 of Local Government Act and a number of local authorities had already introduced 
charges for this purpose.  Introduction of charges for pre- application planning advice 
would present an opportunity to recoup some of the costs associated with 
undertaking pre-application discussions with potential applicants for planning 
permission, and to offset some of the costs of the planning process.  The report has 
been prepared in the context of a significant reduction in planning fee income, and a 
study, financed by the West Midlands Improvement and Efficiency Project, 
commissioned from the accountancy firm Deloitte, comparing the council’s fees and 
charges with those made by a range of other local authorities.  This work had 
identified some activities where no charge was currently made but could be, and the 
report to Cabinet on 16 January 2013 on the Scale of Fees and Charges had 
identified charging for pre-application advice as feasible for implementation in 
2013/14, and advised that a report on this would be submitted to this meeting. 
 
The introduction of charges had been supported by the Planning Committee at its 
meeting the previous evening. 
 
A discussion ensued on the merits of the introduction of a charge in respect of 
householder development, as it was considered that a complete absence of advice 
without charge could potentially be detrimental to customers. 
 
Resolved: 
 

(1) That, subject to (3) below, the provision of “free” informal written advice as 
to whether or not planning permission is required for development 
proposals, be discontinued; 

(2) That, subject to (3) below, the introduction of charging of fees for pre-
application advice, as set out in the report be approved; 

(3) That, solely in relation to householder development, the provision of one 
half-hour meeting per case be allowed without charge, but a charge be 
levied in the event of any further meeting or if written confirmation of the 
advice given is sought; and 

(4) That the Head of Planning and Development be requested to report back 
after six months on the implementation of these changes, the feedback 
received and the impact of them. 

 
12. URGENT BUSINESS  

 
There was no urgent business. 
 
 
 
 

COUNCILLOR GARETH SNELL 
Chair 

 
The meeting concluded at 7.55 pm. 

Page 5



Page 6

This page is intentionally left blank



IRRECOVERABLE ITEMS 
 
Submitted by:  Head of Revenues & Benefits 
 
Portfolio: Finance and Budget Management 
 
Ward(s) affected: All 
 
 

Purpose of the Report 
 
To consider items deemed irrecoverable. 
 
Recommendation 
 
That the items detailed at Appendix B be considered irrecoverable for the reasons stated and 
be written off. 
 
Reasons 
 
For a variety of reasons, from time to time, it is considered that certain items are unable to be 
recovered from debtors.  When this occurs, it is necessary to write off these balances from the 
appropriate Council account records. 

 
1. Background 

 
1.1 For a variety of reasons, following the issue of accounts for amounts due to the Council, it is 

considered the debt is no longer able to be collected.  Normally, these reasons follow from 
the debtor having been subjected to insolvency proceedings or other legal processes in 
respect of their debts or even the death of a debtor.  There is then no further redress to 
recover the outstanding amounts and it is necessary to write off the outstanding balances 
from the Council’s records. 
 

2. Collection Procedures 
 

2.1 Collection procedures in respect of business rates and council tax are operated in 
accordance with legislative guidelines.  Other debts are collected by a variety of schemes 
suitable to the type of account involved.  Full details of these procedures are included at 
appendix (a) and are considered confidential due to their potential sensitivity.  Open 
disclosure of this information may give potential defaulters an advantage in respect of when 
action is taken and therefore less incentive for them to pay in accordance with routine 
payment schedules. 
 

3. Proposal 
 

3.1 That the items listed at Appendix B be considered irrecoverable for the reasons stated and 
these balances be written off.  Irrecoverable amounts are considered to be of a confidential 
nature and reports have historically been treated in this manner.  This policy was last 
reviewed and endorsed by Cabinet in July 2008 and is common in the majority of local 
authorities and all other Staffordshire authorities. Further guidance obtained from the Local 
Government Association in May 2011 endorsed this methodology for dealing with 
irrecoverable items.  It is used to ensure the principles of data protection are maintained.  It 
would also obviously be inappropriate to disclose information for instance about deceased 
debtors, with the potential for causing further distress to bereaved family members.  Where 
debts are in respect of commercial organisations, there is the potential in cases such as 

Agenda Item 4

Page 7



administration that disclosure could jeopardise the potential recovery of the business in the 
long term.  Items are only ever considered for write-off following robust adherence to the 
appropriate collection policy. 
 

4. Financial and Resource Implications 
 

4.1 The Council makes provision for unrecoverable sums and the amounts recommended for 
write-off are within the current budgeted bad debt provision. 
 

5. Earlier Cabinet/Committee Resolutions 
 

5.1 23 July 2008 
 

6. List of Appendices 
 
Appendix A - Collection procedures 
Appendix B - Irrecoverable items 
 
 

Page 8



Page 9

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 12

This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 13

B
y virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of P

art 1 of S
chedule 12A

of the Local G
overnm

ent A
ct 1972.

D
ocum

ent is R
estricted



P
age 16

T
his page is intentionally left blank



TELECOMS CONTRACTS CONSOLIDATION 
 
Submitted by:  Executive Director, Resources & Support Services 
 
Portfolio: Communications, Transformation & Partnerships 
  
Ward(s) affected: Non specific 
 
 

Purpose of the Report 
 
To seek Cabinet approval to enter into a single consolidated contract for the supply of telephony 
and wide area network (telecoms) provision for a period of five years. 
 
Recommendations 
 
(a) That Standing Orders Relating to Contracts be waived on the grounds of 2b(vi) which 
states ‘where for any other reason there would be no genuine competition’ 
 
(b) That British Telecom (BT) is awarded a consolidated contract for a period of five 
years 
 
Reasons 
 
(a) Consolidating the contracts improves the Council’s position in achieving best value through 

tendering for a full telecoms solution starting in four years’ time, which will be more attractive 
in the open market. 

(b) Consolidation provides the opportunity to make savings on current contracts costs. 
(c) The recommendations accord with the approved ICT consolidation programme. 
 
1. Background 

 
1.1 The Council has an approved programme of ICT consolidation covering software and 

hardware.  As part of this programme, in conjunction with the Council’s Procurement Officer 
and legal team, ICT have been investigating the current contracts for the provision of 
telephony and wide area network (WAN)1 services to the Council’s buildings.   
 

1.2 The Council’s WAN provides network access to all Council sites, together with access to the 
internet.  The Council’s telecoms infrastructure has developed to meet the particular needs 
of each service over a period of time.  As such, each connection has been procured through 
different means, attracting a different price over a different contract period.  Currently, there 
are 8 individual telecoms contracts in place, each with different end dates starting with 
October 2013 through to December 2016, covering the Council’s telephony and WAN 
requirements.  
 

2. Issues 
 

2.1 Small scale procurement for telecoms hardware and support over the years (i.e. small 
numbers of connections from one site to another) has restricted the Council in being able to 
attract a significant discount from providers due to insufficient volume.  Typically, the 

                                            
1
 The WAN is a network that covers a broad geographic area outside of the Council’s own internal network. WANs are 
used to relay data and information to staff, suppliers, partners etc. at any geographical location. This allows the 
Council to effectively carry out its daily function regardless of location. An example of a WAN is the Internet. 

Agenda Item 5

Page 17



larger/detailed the tender the more likely the Council will benefit from more economically 
advantageous procurement of services. 
 

2.2 It is not possible for the Council to undertake a large procurement for provision of our entire 
telecoms infrastructure without significantly overrunning outside of contract periods with 
individual connections in order to synchronize a finish date, or by paying early terminations 
fees of approximately £25,000 to end contracts before their natural finish date.   
 

2.3 The capacity of WAN connections has been calculated before sites have come on-line.  In 
many cases the Council has under-capacity and sites suffer from slow connection issues 
whilst at other locations, links have been over specified and their capacity not fully utilised. 
Relocation of staff from one site to another has added a further complexity by adding to the 
capacity requirements at some sites which was not anticipated when the links were initially 
installed.  This inflexible provision between sites means that problems are difficult to resolve 
and an overhaul of the Council’s telecoms is required. 
 

2.4 Whilst internally the Council’s telephony provision can reroute calls automatically to any 
handset which is connected to the network, calls coming into the Council must still be routed 
via a traditional telephone exchange.  The Council pays an additional premium to BT to 
operate a 1 hour diversion service for the main “717717” and “715500” numbers.  This 
means that should these numbers be unavailable BT will temporarily move them to other 
numbers to ensure continuity of the telephony service.  However, all other externally 
accessible numbers are not covered in this agreement.  Diversion of these other numbers, if 
required, could take up to a week to complete.  This is not effective for disaster recovery and 
does not provide the flexibility or resilience the Council needs. 
 

2.5 A number of telecom service providers now offer the new SIP (Session Initiated Protocol) 
technology2 for telephony.  The advantages of SIP include:  
 

• Lower cost calls than traditional lines.  With SIP the Council only pays for the 
capacity it needs and the usage it make of telephony. 

• Flexible numbering e.g. working from a Newcastle number regardless of the physical 
location. 

• Number portability which allows the Council to relocate offices or sites but keep 
existing numbers. 

• Site resilience; number flexibility that supports disaster recovery plans. 

• Supports system expansion; an additional number can be added to a SIP site at 
lower cost and less time that traditional means. 

 
3. Options Considered 

 
3.1 Do Nothing 

 
3.1.1 Await contract end dates or work with current providers to extend certain contracts to allow 

for them to expire at the same time.  
 
The disadvantages of this approach are: 
 

• Removes the capacity to reduce current costs  

• Limits disaster recovery capabilities 

                                            
2
 With SIP, calls travel over the Internet. Calls sent over the Internet are much cheaper than calls sent over traditional 
telephone lines. Because it is flexible, SIP provides the ability to combine communication services such as voice, 
instant messaging, video conferencing. Using SIP, telephony in effect becomes another web application. 

Page 18



• Does not take advantage of flexible new technology with the potential to reduce call 
costs in the future as part of a separate review. 

 
3.2 Early Termination of Contracts and Re-Procurement 

 
3.2.1 This option attracts early termination costs of approximately £25,000 to end the existing 

contracts.  This would be followed by a full procurement for the entire wide area network and 
external telephony infrastructure.  
 

3.3 Consolidate existing telecoms contracts and upgrade the current telecoms technology 
 

3.3.1 This option involves entering into a five year contract with BT; our existing principal 
telephony and WAN provider.  This new combined contract will replace all existing small 
contracts and put in place a single end date.  This will simplify contract management and 
enable procurement of a full telecoms solution within the final year of the contract. 
 

3.3.2 As the contract value would exceed Public Procurement thresholds, the Council would issue 
a Voluntary Ex-Ante Transparency (VEAT) Notice to the European market.3   The notice 
advises the market place that the Council is making an award following a negotiated 
procedure without advertising the opportunity through the European Journal.  Any potential 
suppliers may comment within a ten days standstill period following the announcement of 
“intention to award a contract”. If during this period any alternative supplier lodges a genuine 
objection to the procurement for which they can substantiate their claim, the Council will 
cease the award process.  ICT would then recommend that the Council undertake the option 
outlined in 3.2 and build in the costs of early termination to be covered by any potential new 
supplier. 
 

3.3.3 This gives the Council the opportunity to bring to a close all 8 existing contracts, with 
different end dates whilst delivering savings, and offers the opportunity to tender in full 
during the life of the single consolidated contract 

 
3.3.4 Approving this option will require the Council to waive Standing Orders Relating to Contracts 

on the grounds of 2b (vi).  Although there are a number of telecoms suppliers in the market 
place, it is considered more advantageous to both the Council and suppliers to tender for a 
full telecoms contract due to the fact that any other supplier bid would need to absorb the 
cost of the early termination fees from the existing contracts to make a bid financially 
attractive to the Council.  
 

3.3.5 This option incorporates the upgrading of the current telecoms to take advantage of SIP 
technology, for the reasons detailed in 2.5 above. 
 

4. Proposal 
 

4.1 Your officers in ICT, Procurement and Legal Services have worked together in presenting a 
proposal for Cabinet consideration.  As a result, it is recommended that Option 3.3 be 
approved. 
 

4.2 The execution of a new five year contract will require the authority to waive Standing Orders 
Relating to Contracts on the grounds of 2b(vi), as the contract value over the life of the 
contract is in excess of £50,000.  It is advantageous to the Council (given the numbers and 
types of contracts in place), and potential suppliers to consolidate the telecoms contracts 

                                            
3
 A public body may use a VEAT notice when they have awarded a contract which has not been published in the 
OJEU, such as contracts using the Negotiated Procedure (without prior advertising). 

Page 19



initially and go to the market with a full tender for the procurement of all telecoms services 
within the final year of the contract. 
 

4.3 The proposal will also involve a significant upgrade of the Council’s existing infrastructure 
which will see the Council moving away from traditional telephone lines and physical reliance 
on telephone exchanges.  Whilst the service to users and customers will not change the 
Council will reduce costs, build resilience and introduce essential flexibility for future 
deployment of telecoms services at any sites.  
 

5. Reasons for Preferred Solution 
 

5.1 The preferred solution has the following benefits: 
 

5.1.1 The Council will not incur any early termination charges (£25,000) or have to over-run on 
contracts.  This in effect means that should the Council seek to go out to open market at this 
time, potential suppliers submission would need to reflect both early termination costs and 
perceived savings, as highlighted by BT as part of their negotiated proposal, resulting in 
them having to identify a considerable discount for their solution to deliver value for money. 
 

5.1.2 The introduction of SIP technology benefits the authority in terms of resilience, flexibility and 
disaster recovery. 
 

5.1.3 The current supplier will cover all associated costs of modifying our internal telephone 
system to accept SIP telephony. 
 

5.1.4 The supplier already maintains the majority of the Council’s network links and will continue to 
keep the old links in a live state until acceptance testing and sign off has been achieved  
 

5.1.5 The exercise will facilitate a much improved and much more attractive procurement package 
to be put in place during the final year of the contract to ensure the Council secures the most 
economically advantageous tender (MEAT). 
 

5.1.6 The solution will consolidate a number of complex contracts into a single entity which is 
more manageable. 
 

5.1.7 The issuing of a VEAT notice to the open market will automatically highlight any objections 
from any alternative suppliers.  It will also identify if any organisation could realistically 
deliver a more advantageous package of development through the objection process. 
 

6. Outcomes Linked to Sustainable Community Strategy and Corporate Priorities 
 

6.1 The outcome supports becoming a cooperative council delivering high quality community 
driven services, through providing a telecoms solution that maintains, supports and improves 
sustainable communications between the community and the Council. 
 

7. Legal and Statutory Implications  
 

7.1 The recommendation is made in accordance with the Council’s internal rules set out in the 
Constitution and with the European Procurement Rules and the UK regulations.  Advice has 
also been sought and agreed from Procurement and Legal Services in developing the 
proposal. 
 

8. Equality Impact Assessment 
 

8.1 No adverse impact has been identified as a result of delivering the recommendations. 

Page 20



 
9. Financial and Resource Implications 

 
9.1 A full breakdown of the costs and savings are shown below: 

 

 Year 1 
2013/14 

Year 2 
2014/15 

Year 3 
2015/16 

Year 4 
2016/17 

Year 5 
2017/18 

Current Revenue 
Costs 

£71,457 £71,457 £71,457 £71,457 £71,457 

Proposed New 
Costs: 
One off Capital 
One off Revenue 
Ongoing Revenue 
( One off and 
Ongoing Revenue 
Costs can be met 
from existing 
revenue budget in 
2013/14) 

 
 

£24,956 
£20,078 
£51,338 

 

 
 
 
 

£51,338 

 
 
 
 

£51,338 

 
 
 
 

£51,338 

 
 
 
 

£51,338 

Total £96,372     
Balance (£24,956) £20,119 £20,119 £20,119 £20,119 
Savings (£24,956) (£4,837) £15,282 £20,119 £20,119 
 

9.2 The proposal requires one off capital investment of £24,956 in 2013/14 to finance the 
implementation and refresh of network equipment at the authority’s sites, and is detailed in 
the ICT ‘Invest to Save’ submission.  The additional cost of migrating the Council’s internal 
telephone network to SIP connections is approximately £7,000.  BT has agreed to meet the 
latter cost.  
 

9.3 The one off revenue cost in 2013/14 will be incurred if the contract commences in April 2013. 
Should the contract commence later than this, the revenue cost will overlap into 2014/15 and 
the savings shown in 2014/15 decrease proportionately. 
 

9.4 The on-going revenue costs cover the line rental and service charges associated with our 
telecoms connections provision. This does not include call costs, which are covered under a 
separate contract.  Your officers will investigate future savings of these costs following 
implementation of SIP technology (see 9.4).  
 

9.5 Savings over the life of the contract are approximately £55,000 over current contracts costs, 
commencing in year three of the contract, as detailed in the above table, with the potential to 
save more when ICT investigate call charges, programmed to take place in August 2014, to 
allow time for the installation and embedding of SIP beforehand. 
 

10. Major Risks  
 

10.1 Risks have been identified associated with the consolidation of telecoms contracts in this 
way, which in summary are: 
 

• Potential for challenge by the market when using a VEAT notice  

• Restrictions in staying with the current telecoms solution:  
- Inability to provide full business continuity/disaster recovery telecoms 
- Inflexibility and increased cost should the council vacate its current premises in 

the future 

Page 21



 
10.2 A full Risk Log is available on request. 

 
11. Sustainability and Climate Change Implications 

 
There are no sustainability and climate change implications arising from this report. 
 

11. Key Decision Information 
 

11.1 The report is a key decision as defined in the Council’s Constitution, as it is likely to result in 
the Council incurring expenditure or making savings which are significant and has been 
included in the Cabinet’s Forward Plan for the period in which the meeting is to take place. 
 

12. Earlier Cabinet/Committee Resolutions 
 
Strategic Review and Consolidation of ICT Systems - Cabinet, 20 June 2012 
 

Page 22



 

 

 LOCALISM ACT – COMMUNITY RIGHT TO CHALLENGE AND COMMUNITY RIGHT TO BID 
 

Submitted by:  Business Improvement Manager/Partnerships Officer (Community 
Development) 

 
Portfolio: Communications, Transformation & Partnerships  
 
Ward(s) affected: All 
 
 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 

The purpose of this report is to outline what the Council needs to do in order to comply with the 
Community Right to Challenge and Community Right to Bid legalisation. The report makes a 
number of proposals in order to enable the Council to meets its obligations under the legislation. 

 
Recommendations  
 

1. That Cabinet agree to adopt the recommendations set out in section 3 and 5 of this 
report. 

2.  That Cabinet decide the preferred approach for receipt of ‘Expressions of Interest’ 
(EOI) as part of the community right to challenge - either: 

2.1 within set timescales set by the authority ((a) para 3.2) or 
2.2 as and when an EOI is received ((b) para 3.2) 

 
Reasons 
 

The need to respond to the requirements of the Localism Act which received Royal assent on 
the 15th November 2011 and was implemented in phases. The Community Right to Challenge 
was brought into force on the 27th June 2012 and the Community Right to Bid was brought into 
force on the 21st September 2012.  

 

 

1. Background 

 
1.1 The Localism Act received Royal Assent on the 15th November 2011 and the majority of the 

Act was introduced in phases. The Community Right to Challenge was brought into force on 
the 27th June 2012 and the Community Right to Bid was brought into force on the 21st 

September 2012. 
 
2.0 Community Right to Challenge 
 
 Legislation 
2.1 The Community Right to Challenge (CRTC) allows a relevant body to challenge a local 

authority by expressing an interest in running a service. A relevant body would comprise of: 
  

2.1.1 a Parish Council, but not limited to services or facilities within its area; 
 

2.1.2 a Voluntary Body – a body, other than a local authority, the activities of which are not 
carried on for a profit; 

 
2.1.3 a Community Body – a body, other than a local authority, which carries on activities 

primarily for the benefit of the community; 

Agenda Item 6

Page 23



 

 

 
2.1.4 a body or trust established for charitable purposes;  

 
2.1.5 two or more employees of the Authority, whether or not they have formed themselves 

into a body for this purpose; or 
 

2.1.6 such other persons or bodies as may be specified by the Secretary of State by 
regulations. To date, no such regulations have been made. 

 
Note that there is no requirement for a Voluntary or Community Body to have any local 
connection and any of these bodies can submit an Expression of Interest (EOI) in 
partnership with any other organisation, including a commercial organisation, or propose to 
sub-contract the work to a commercial organisation.  Providing that this is done, there is no 
requirement for the relevant body to undertake the majority of, or any particular share of the 
work. 

 
2.2 The Expression of Interest must relate to the provision of, or assisting in the provision of, a 

“relevant service”, which means any service which is currently provided by or on behalf of 
the Authority. An Expression of Interest can relate to services such as management and 
maintenance of playing fields or parks, refuse collection and re-cycling, running a leisure 
centre, or operation of off-street car parks, internal back office services.  Equally, a team of 
authority staff might consider taking on a back office activity. 

  

2.3 There are a number of excluded services exist as part of the CRTC and as such cannot be 
the subject of an expression of interest, for example a service which includes the exercise of 
a statutory power which cannot be delegated. So, the setting of Council Tax or the 
determination of a planning application is not legally capable of being undertaken by anyone 
other than a local authority, and so cannot be the subject of an expression of interest. A list 
of further services excluded from the CRTC can be found at Appendix A. 

 
2.4 The Council may choose to publish specified periods during which expressions can be 

submitted in relation to a relevant service and if an expression is submitted outside of the 
period, the Council may refuse to consider the expression. However, if periods are not 
specified then expressions of interest may be submitted at any time.  

 
2.5 An expression of interest must include specific information in order to initiate a challenge. 

Once an expression of interest is submitted the Council must determine if it accepts or 
rejects it and must do so within a set time frame. If the Council rejects an expression of 
interest it must publish the reasons for its decision. There are a number of grounds for 
rejection as set out in the Act, as attached at Appendix B.  
 

2.6 The Council must specify the maximum period that it will take to notify the relevant body of 
its decision on an expression of interest and publish details of the specification on the 
website. The Council must also notify the person making the expression of interest of when 
they can expect to receive a decision. The notification must be in writing and must be 
completed within 30 days after the close of any period specified. 

 
2.7 If the Council accepts an expression of interest then it must carry out a procurement 

exercise in which the body submitting the expression can bid alongside others. This means 
that the body who triggered the procurement exercise may not eventually be a provider of 
that service. The Council must specify minimum and maximum periods of time that must 
elapse between the date of its decision to accept an expression of interest and the date on 
which the procurement exercise will begin. The procurement process will also enable the 
authority to contrast and compare as part of an evaluation process, value for money from its 
own internal service delivery as part of any award process. 

Page 24



 

 

 
2.8 The Council can also accept an expression of interest with modifications and in doing so it 

must publish the reasons and carry out a procurement exercise. The option to accept with 
modification requires the body submitting the expression of interest to agree to the 
modification. This option is not aimed at enabling wholesale change to an expression of 
interest, but may enable minor changes to be made to enable the Council to accept it. 

 
2.9 The carrying out of a procurement exercise should be appropriate to the nature and value of 
 the contract. So in some cases the Council will have to follow the procedures for advertising, 
 tendering and awarding contracts as set out in the relevant regulations. 

 
2.10 It should be noted that the carrying out of a procurement exercise, may result in an outcome 

where an existing internal service is externalised.  
  
3.0 What does the Council need to do? 
  

Action Required: Recommendations to Cabinet: 

3.1 Develop and implement a process by 
which the Council can consider and 
determine any expressions of interest 

That the process as outlined at Appendix C is 
approved. 

3.2 Decide if there should be a specific 
time period for when expressions can be 
submitted 

(a) That the Council either specifies a time 
period and Cabinet approves the process as 
outlined at Appendix D. or alternatively (b) 
accepts ‘Expressions of Interest’ as and when 
these arise.  

3.3 Decide what information should be 
included in an expression of interest 

The application form for recording 
expressions of interest as outlined at 
Appendix E is approved. 

3.4 Nominate a key contact that 
expressions of interest should be 
submitted to and in what format 

That the Business Improvement & 
Partnerships Officer is the key contact for 
receiving expressions of interest either 
through an online application form or paper 
version. 

3.5 Appoint a person/group to accept or 
reject expressions of interest 

The process as outlined at Appendix C. 

3.6 Develop mechanisms and timescales 
for accepting, modifying or rejecting of 
expressions of interest and the time scale 
for determination 

As outlined at Appendix D. 

3.7 Develop a process with specific 
timescales for undertaking a procurement 
exercise 

This will depend upon the nature of the 
service that is being challenged but the 
general process is outlined at Appendix D 
and follows the Councils existing procurement 
practices. 

 
 
4.0 Community Right to Bid 
 
 Legislation 
4.1 The Community Right to Bid (CRTB) is also referred to as the Assets of Community Value. 

The CRTB requires the Council to maintain a list of assets which are deemed to be of 
community value, as well as a list of unsuccessful nominations. The aspiration of the CRTB 
is that it will provide  eligible groups with more time to develop their Business Plans and find 
the finance to buy key assets that are put up for sale. 

Page 25



 

 

 
 4.2 The CRTB has three main parts: 

• Nomination and listing of assets 

• The moratorium period 

• Appeals process 
 

 4.3 Nomination and listing of assets 
 The CRTB allows local community groups, voluntary organisations, and parish councils to 

identify land and buildings such as a local shop or community centre that provide an 
important service in their community and nominate these for inclusion on the asset of 
community value register maintained by NULBC. A full list of who can nominate an asset is 
set out at Appendix F. The asset has to be listed on the register for 5 years or removed if the 
asset is sold, deemed no longer to have community value or an appeal against the listing 
has been successful. Following nomination, NULBC has 8 weeks to make a judgement 
about whether the asset meets the regulations set out in the Act; this is listed at Appendix G. 
If the nominated asset meets the criteria, then NULBC must list it on a register (listed at 
Appendix K) informing all affected parties including the Parish or Town Council if appropriate 
and the relevant LAP. The asset must also be registered on the local land charges register. 

 
4.4 The Moratorium period 

 Once an asset has been listed nothing further will happen until the owner decides to dispose 
of it, either through a freehold sale, or the grant or assignment of a qualifying lease (i.e. 
originally granted for at least twenty-five years). Unless an exemption applies, the owner will 
only be able to dispose of the asset after a specified window has expired. The first part of the 
window is a 6 week interim period, which will apply to all cases, and allow community 
interest groups to make a written request to be treated as a potential bidder. If a community 
group does make such a request during this 6 week period, and it is deemed a valid request, 
then the full 6 month moratorium will operate. During this period, the owner may investigate 
or negotiate sales but must not exchange contracts unless it is to the community interest 
group. If the owner does exchange contracts with someone other than a community group 
during this period, the sale will be invalid. After the moratorium period, either the 6 weeks if 
there has been no community interest, or the full 6 months, the owner is free to sell to 
whomever they choose. 

 
 4.5  Appeals process 
 If the owner objects to their property being placed on the register, they have a right to an 

internal review by the Council and if following the review they are still dissatisfied they then 
have a right to appeal to an independent Tribunal. Also if the owner (unless the owner is a 
public sector agency) believes that they have incurred a loss or expense as a result of the 
delay caused by the moratorium period, they will be able to make a claim for compensation 
to the Council. The Council will be expected to meet any compensation and (reasonable) 
legal costs resulting from the appeals process. The Act states that the Listing and Appeals 
decisions should be taken by different Officers. 

 
 
5.0 What does the Council need to do? 
 

Action Required: Recommendations to Cabinet: 

Nominating and listing of assets 
5.1 Determine a process to enable 
Parish/Town Councils, local community 
and voluntary groups and LAPs to 
nominate assets 

 
To approve the proposed process which can 
be found at Appendix H and application form 
at Appendix I. 

5.2 Establish an internal review process To approve the proposed process which can 

Page 26



 

 

should the owner of the nominated asset 
disagree with the Council’s decision that 
the nomination should be listed 

be found at Appendix H. 

Decision making 
5.3 To determine in accordance with 
Government Regulations whether the 
asset can be included in a list of  assets of 
community value 

The criteria for inclusion are defined in the 
regulations, so it is essentially a judgement 
call if the asset is to go on the register or not. 
Business Improvement and Partnerships will 
consult with local ward councillors, the 
internal assets team and others as 
appropriate and make recommendations to a 
nominated member of EMT. The nominated 
member of EMT will then consult with ward 
councillors on the final decision. 

5.4 The Council has to publish a list of both 
successful and unsuccessful nominations; 
the Council can either publish one single 
list or two separate lists. The Council also 
needs to decide on the frequency of the 
updates of the register 

That the Council publish just one list which 
can be found at Appendix K, so people 
wishing to nominate an asset can see quite 
clearly what has been successfully added and 
what has been unsuccessful with the reasons 
for rejection. The list will be published on the 
Council’s webpage’s on a monthly basis. 

5.5 Publish the list of assets that were 
unsuccessful including the reasons why 
the nomination was unsuccessful 

As above. 

5.6 Selling of assets and appeals 
process 
Set up and monitor a moratorium process 
so that when an asset from the list comes 
onto the market, community groups have 
time to register their intent to bid and raise 
the necessary capital, and prevent the 
owner from selling the asset during the 
moratorium period 

 
This process can be found at Appendix J. 
Once Business Improvement and 
Partnerships have been informed of the 
intention to sell the asset, letters will need to 
be sent to the community group informing 
them of the proposals and also published 
around the neighbourhood. The register will 
be updated to show the intention to sell with 
the interim, full moratorium end dates and the 
end date of the protected period. 

5.7 Operate a compensation scheme to 
compensate owners for loss or expense 
incurred as a result of listing and complying 
with any procedures of the scheme 

The Council will be expected to meet any 
compensation and (reasonable) legal costs 
resulting from the appeals process. 

 
 
6. Issues 
 
6.1 There will be a need to raise awareness of the CRTC and CRTB considerations are being 

given to the following actions: 
 

6.1.1 Inclusion of detailed information on the Councils website on the Localism Act with 
information on all rights, 

6.1.2 The drafting of a set of guides will be produced on the Localism Act for staff which 
will be promoted on the e-voice, 

6.1.3 A locality member’s forum (possibly through the LAPs) to be held in each locality in 
February/March 2013 on the CRTB, 

6.1.4 Potential engagement with the West Midlands Community Council, Staffordshire 
Parish Council’s Association linked to raising awareness and support within Parishes. 

Page 27



 

 

6.1.5 Potential engagement with the Newcastle Voluntary Sector Forum and the LAPs 
Chair’s Group linked to awareness raising and support within the voluntary and 
community sector, and LAPs. 

 

6.2 Encouraging voluntary participation in service provision under the CRTC: As set out above, 
once the statutory process is activated, there is no guarantee that the community or 
voluntary organisation which initiated the process will be successful in the procurement 
exercise.  Indeed, such a local community or voluntary body will normally be at a 
considerable disadvantage by reason of its smaller size, limited track record of service 
provision and lack of funds for bid preparation.  The formal procurement process also leads 
to a formality of service contract which may work against a genuine partnership for local 
service delivery. 
If the Newcastle-under-Lyme Borough Council wishes to encourage community involvement 
in service provision, it may be preferable to encourage direct negotiation with community and 
voluntary bodies instead of a formal procurement exercise.  So, for example, the Authority 
has the ability to enter an agency arrangement with a Parish Council, or to grant a lease of 
local community facilities to such a community or voluntary body, and to enter a grant 
agreement, without having to undertake a competitive procurement.  This will only be 
possible where the grant agreement does no more than cover costs, and where there is no 
developed commercial market for the services. It must still be satisfied that such an 
arrangement provides best value for the Authority, but such a voluntary arrangement can 
avoid the costs to the Authority and to bidders of a formal competitive procurement. 

 

 
6.3 The acceptance of an expression of interest under the CRTC and subsequent procurement 

process will require the relevant service area to draft a specification/service outline and 
identify outcomes/service level expectations. Members of EMT have identified a potential 
skills shortfall and financial implication in this area that will need to be addressed. 

 
 
7. Proposal 

 
7.1 That the recommendation set out in sections 3 and 5 of this report are approved. 
 
7.2 That Cabinet indicate the preferred option linked to paragraph 3.2 either: 

(a) That the Council specifies a time period and Cabinet approves the process as outlined at 
Appendix D. or alternatively  
(b) accepts ‘Expressions of Interest’ as and when these arise. 

 
. 
8. Reasons for Solution 

 
8.1 To ensure that the Council meets its duties under the Community Right to Bid and 

Community Right to Challenge legalisation. 
 
 
9. Outcomes Linked to Corporate Priorities 
 
9.1 The recommendations support the Council’s corporate priorities. 

 
9.2 The CRTC and CRTB and the approach adopted in their delivery, clearly supports the 

priority of becoming a co-operative council which delivers high quality, community driven, 
services, albeit an EOI under the CRTC may also result in the engagement of a wider 
supplier base.  

Page 28



 

 

 
 

10. Legal and Statutory Implications  
 
10.1 The report and recommendations respond to requirements of The Localism Act 2011. 
 
 
11. Equality Impact Assessment 
 
11.1 Unless otherwise stated below this proposed decision is not considered to have any adverse 

implications to and is considered to comply with the Council’s equal opportunities/diversity 
policies. 

 
 
9. Financial and Resource Implications 
 
9.1  The implementation of the actions linked to the recommendations will be financed using 

 existing budgets. 
 
9.2 There will be financial implications linked to the costs of preparing service 

outlines/specifications and subsequent evaluation and award as part of the CRTC, albeit at 
the time of drafting this report volumes of EOI cannot be predicted. 

 
10. Major Risks  
 
10.1 If the Council fails to comply with legalisation it risks being considered as ineffective and may 

face enforcement action. 
 
10.2 Risk assessments have been undertaken for both CRTC & CRTB and are available on 

request. 
 
11. Key Decision Information 
 
11.1 This report is classed as a key decision document as there are legal implications linked to 

non-compliance.  
 

12. Earlier Cabinet/Committee Resolutions 
  
12.1  There were no earlier Cabinet or Committee resolutions linked to this report. 
  

Page 29



Page 30

This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

APPENDIX A 
 
Excluded services (Community Right to Challenge) 
 
A relevant service commissioned in conjunction with one or more health services: 
 
1. By a relevant authority or by an NHS body under a partnership arrangement made 
in accordance with the NHS Bodies and Local Authorities Partnership Arrangements 
Regulations 2000, or 
 
2. By a relevant authority and an NHS body or a Strategic Health Authority, acting 
jointly. 
 
• A relevant service commissioned by an NHS body on behalf of a relevant authority. 
 
• A relevant service commissioned or provided by a relevant authority in respect of a 
named person with complex individual health or social care needs. 
 
The first two bullet points relate to services provided until 1 April 2014, in order to 
allow the NHS commissioners established by the Health and Social Care Act 2012 to 
become fully operational. 

Page 31



Page 32

This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

APPENDIX B 
 
Refusing an expression of interest (Community Right to Challenge) 
 
1. The expression of interest does not comply with any of the requirements specified 
in the Act or in regulations. 
 
2. The relevant body provides information in the expression of interest which in the 
opinion of the relevant authority, is in a material particular inadequate or inaccurate. 
 
3. The relevant authority considers, based on the information in the expression of 
interest, that the relevant body or, where applicable – 
 
(a) Any member of the consortium of which it is a part, or 
 
(b) Any sub-contractor referred to in the expression of interest is not suitable to 
provide or assist in providing the relevant service. 
 
4. The expression of interest relates to a relevant service where a decision, 
evidenced in writing, has been taken by the relevant authority to stop providing that 
service. 
 
5. The expression of interest relates to a relevant service – 
 
(a) Provided, in whole or in part, by or on behalf of the relevant authority to persons 
who are also in receipt of a service provided or arranged by an NHS body which is 
integrated with the relevant service; and 
 
(b) The continued integration of such services is, in the opinion of the relevant 
authority, critical to the well-being of those persons. 
 
6. The relevant service is already the subject of a procurement exercise. 
 
7. The relevant authority and a third party have entered into negotiations for provision 
of the service, which negotiations are at least in part conducted in writing. 
 
8. The relevant authority has published its intention to consider the provision of the 
relevant service by a body that 2 or more specified employees of that authority 
propose to establish. 
 
9. The relevant authority considers that the expression of interest is frivolous or 
vexatious. 
 
10. The relevant authority considers that acceptance of the expression of interest is 
likely to lead to contravention of an enactment or other rule of law or a breach of 
statutory duty. 

Page 33



Page 34

This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

APPENDIX C 
 
Community Right to Challenge 

 

 

Relevant 

authority 
staff 

 

Community 
Organisation 

 

 
Charity 

 

Parish 
Council 

Expression of interest 

Business Improvement & Partnerships receive application (Paper copy 

or electronically) 

EMT endorses/ amends recommendations 

Cabinet or appropriate committee for approval of recommendations 

Full Council for final approval 

Accept Challenge Reject Challenge 

Accept with 

modification 

Carries out 
procurement 

exercise with legal 

requirements 

Update register with 
the outcome 

Publish reason for 
rejection and update 
expression of interest 

register 

Project group meet to discuss application and make recommendations 

Page 35



Page 36

This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

APPENDIX D 
 
Community Right to Challenge Indicative Timetables 
 
Set out below is the indicative timescale outlining the process for 
managing expressions of interest in Newcastle-under-Lyme: 
 

Indicative timescale Activity 

March to April: Window for submission of expressions of interest 

May to July: Assessment and analysis of expressions of 
interest by project group and EMT 

September: Cabinet report on expressions and recommended 
Decisions 

 Approval by full Council 
 
Assuming acceptance of the expression of interest: 
Indicative timescale 
 

Indicative timescale Activity 

October to March: Preparation of tender documents. 
NB: The time taken will depend on the nature of 
the tender. 

*Between January and 
April to September 

Procurement process 
NB: this will begin after the preparation of tender 
documents has been completed, which could be 
before March. 

October to February Decision to aware contract, TUPE, contract 
completion etc. 

April Go live 
 
*The table above allows 3-6 months between determination of an 
expression of interest and the start of procurement, based on noncomplex 
procurement processes. It is intended that the minimum time between the 
acceptance of an expression of interest and the start of the procurement 
process would be 3 months (October to January). The maximum time 
would be 6 months (October to April). 
More complex procurement (for example, in-house service takeover or 
competitive dialogue procedures) will be subject to a different timetable. 
Procurement in these circumstances would commence within 9 months of 
acceptance of an expression of interest and determination. 

Page 37



Page 38

This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

APPENDIX E 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Community Right to Challenge 
 
 
 
 
 

Application form for submission by a 
relevant body 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 39



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Community Right to Challenge 

Expression of Interest   

 

Please complete all parts of this application form as fully as possible. You 
are permitted to provide additional information to the form where you feel 
necessary. 
Completed forms should be returned to simon.sowerby@newcastle-
staffs.gov.uk  
 
PART A: ABOUT YOUR ORGANISATION 
 

Name of organisation or group 
submitting the expression of 
interest* 
*If your organisation has not as yet 

selected a name or chose to formally 

constitute, please complete this section 

with details of the individuals who are 

submitting this expression of interest and 

organisation type you will use. 

 

Company and/or charity or CIC 
registration number (if 
applicable): 

 

VAT registration number (if 
applicable): 

 

Name of lead person 
 

Registered address: 

 

Telephone number: 
 

Mobile number: 
 

Email address: 
 

Website: 
 

 
 

Which category of relevant body is your organisation?  Please Tick 

A voluntary or community body  

A body of persons or a trust which is established for 
charitable purposes only 

 

A parish council  

Two or more employees of the relevant authority  

Any other person or body specified by the Secretary 
of State in regulations 

 

Page 40



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Part B: Tell us about other parties involved 
 

Are you part of a consortium? Yes No 

Do you propose using any sub-contractors to 

deliver the service? 
Yes No 

 
If you have answered yes, above, please provide details of any members 
of a consortium or sub contractors likely to deliver a significant proportion 
of any contract (if more than one, please list on a separate sheet): 
 

Name of organisation  

 

Company or charity registration 
number (if applicable): 

 

VAT registration number (if 
applicable): 

 

Name of lead person 
 

Registered address: 

 

Telephone number: 
 

Mobile number: 
 

Email address: 
 

Website: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 41



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

PART C: Tell us about the Council service being challenged 
 

Which Newcastle-under-Lyme Borough Council service does your 
challenge relate to? 
NOTE: This section is for you to include all information you would like to share on the relevant service 

you wish to provide or assist in providing. Please provide as much detail here as possibly. If you are 

unsure of what a relevant service could be please see the Community Right to Challenge Statutory 

Guidance for further advice. 

(http://www.communities.gov.uk/documents/localgovernment/pdf/2168126.pdf) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Is this a relevant service Yes No 

 

What geographical area does your expression relate to? 
All of Newcastle-under-Lyme? Yes No 

A specific area/locality of Newcastle-

under-Lyme (please provide details) 

 

 

Does Newcastle-under-Lyme Borough 

Council currently contract out the 

relevant service? 

Yes No 

Please note that the council may reject your expression of interest based on defined grounds for 

rejection in the Localism Act 2011 with regard to the council having existing contracts or other service 

agreements in place. 

Page 42



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

PART D: Proposal for relevant service or services 
 
Instructions: Please provide as much information as possible to explain your 

proposal to either provide or assist in providing one of the council’s relevant 

services. 

Wherever possible please refer to key aspects of your organisation (e.g. type, 

category, approach, partners or consortia) to show how your proposal could 

better deliver the relevant service, how you feel the current service could change 

(e.g. staffing implication, transfers) and how it will meet the needs of its users. 

Please append any further information necessary to support your expression of 

interest. 

Further information on eligible relevant services can be found in the Community 

Right to Challenge Statutory Guidance. 
(http://www.communities.gov.uk/documents/localgovernment/pdf/2168126.pdf). 

 
Please only tick one of the boxes below – making it clear if your organisation is seeking to 
deliver the relevant service or only assist in delivering a relevant service: 

Is your expression of interest 
to provide the relevant 
service: 
(please tick) 

 

Is your expression of interest 
to assist in providing the 
relevant service: 
(please tick) 

 

Your Proposal: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Is your organisation made up of two or more 
current employees of Newcastle-under-Lyme 
Council 

Yes No 

If YES, please also explain fully how you have done or will engage with 
other employees of the Council who may be affected by your expression 
of interest. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 43



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Social Benefits 
Instructions: Please provide as much information as possible to confirm how your 

organisation and your proposal for the relevant service would increase social, 

economic or environmental well-being in Newcastle-under-Lyme over and above 

the needs of the users of the relevant service. 

Please append any further information necessary to support your expression of 

interest. 

 

Description of the social, economic and environmental benefits that will 
be provided as a result of your approach to the relevant service: 

Your Response: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Evidence of how activities will primarily be for the benefit of the 
community* 
*Please provide any further information that supports your organisation’s 

approach to providing social benefits. If your organisation is incorporated please 

also provide information on how your Memorandum and/or Articles of Association 

support your intent. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 44



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

PART E: Capability statement and experience: 

 
Capability: 
Instructions: Please provide as much information as possible to confirm how your 

organisation (and any partners) is able to either provide or assist in providing the 

relevant service or services. This should include information on any plans you 

may have to develop your organisation in preparation for a procurement exercise 

(e.g. if you have not chosen to constitute your organisation at the point of 

submitting an expression of interest). Please provide information to the council 

regarding your governance and decision making approaches, which may relate to 

your current or proposed Memorandum and/or Articles of Association. 

Please append any further information necessary to support your expression of 

interest. 

 

Explanation of why your organisation is capable of providing the relevant 
service in the way you describe in Part C: 

Your Response: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Organisation experience and expertise: 
Instructions: Please provide as much information as possible to confirm how your 

organisation (and any partners) can use its experience or expertise to provide or 

assist in providing the relevant service or services. 

You can provide information here on any projects or contracts that your 

organisation or individuals in your organisation have been involved in. 

 

Explanation of why your organisation has experience or expertise for the 
relevant service or services: 

Your Response: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Key contract 

or project 

experience 

1) 

2) 

3) 

Page 45



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Staff Experience and Expertise: 
Instructions: Please provide as much information as possible how staff employed 

to deliver your proposal are experienced or have expertise or qualifications to 

provide or assist in providing the relevant service or services. You can provide 

information here on any projects or contracts that your staff or individuals in your 

organisation have been involved in. 

Please append any further information necessary to support your expression of 

interest, and please note that you are not restricted to providing three key 

contracts or project experiences. 

 

Explanation of why your staff has experience or expertise for the relevant 
service or services: 

Your Response: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Key contract 

or project 

experience 

1) 

2) 

3) 
  

 

Any relationship with the council: 
Instructions: Please provide as much information to explain where your 

organisation, its staff, partners or your consortia may have a relationship with the 

council. 

In this context, we ask that you confirm here if: 

• you are an employee of the council, which directorate and in what role and 

such information for all those named as part of the organisation you propose 

to deliver relevant services, or 

• if any person connected with you organisation (or any partners or staff) have 

an associated person who is employed by Newcastle-under-Lyme Borough 

Council or has been employed by us in the last three years. 

For the purposes of this question an 'associated person' is any person who is 

employed by, works for, or otherwise provides services on a full-time or part-time 

basis to or on behalf of the council (or associated body) whether under a 

permanent or fixed contract of employment with the council, through an agency 

contract with an employment agency or as a consultant or contractor through a 

contract for services with the council. 

Please append any further information necessary to support your expression of 

interest. 

 

Explanation of how your organisation relates to the Council currently: 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 46



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Financial Information 
 
Instructions: Please provide as much information as possible to confirm how your 

organisation plans to support the provision of the relevant service through its own 

financial status and resources, and any business planning that may be required to 

support your approach. 

Please append any further information necessary to support your expression of 

interest, for example a business plan. 

 

Description and detail of your organisations financial status, and approach 
to the financing of your organisation for providing the relevant service 
including how the organisation could offer value for money with added 
social benefits. 

 
Your response: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Accounts: 1) Are you able to provide a 
copy of your organisation’s 
audited accounts for the last 
two years? 

Yes No 

2) OR - Do you have an 
alternative means to show your 
organisations financial status 
and resources, if for example 
you have not traded for longer 
than a year or as yet? Please 
append if this is available. 

Yes No 

Insurance: Are you able to or willing to 

take any insurance to 

provide or assist to provide 

the relevant service? You 

will need to decide whether 

your approach requires 

insurances. 

Yes No 

If Yes, confirm which and why this may be important for the 

service in question. If No, please confirm why this is not possible: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 47



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Business 
Planning: 

Are you able to provide a 
business plan for the period 
you wish to provide or support 
to provide the relevant service? 
If yes, please append. 

Yes No 

 If No, please confirm why this is not possible using evidence and 

explanation referencing your proposals in this expression of 

interest: 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Surplus: 
 

Please confirm that your organisation is not for profit in 
the sense that all surpluses are reinvested in the 
organisation or the community and state how you 
would demonstrate this in practice. You may wish to 
refer or provide your proposed Memorandum and/or 
Articles of Association. 
 

Your Response: 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 48



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Part F: Declaration: 
 

 

I declare that to the best of my knowledge the answers submitted 

in this form and the associated documents are correct. I understand 

that the information will be used in the process to assess my 

organisation’s approach to provide or assist in providing a relevant 

service, in the form of an expression of interest as described in s81 

of the Localism Act 2011. 

 

I am signing on behalf of my organisation. I understand that 

Newcastle-under-Lyme Borough Council as a Relevant Authority 

may reject this expression of interest if there is a failure to 

satisfactorily respond to information requests qualified as required 

for compliance, or if I provide false/misleading information. 

 

Name: _______________________________ 

 
 

Date: ________________________________ 
 

 

 

Sign: ________________________________ 

Page 49



Page 50

This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

APPENDIX F 
 

Who may nominate (Community Right to Bid): 
 
Local authorities cannot list land on their own initiative – it must be 
nominated. For a local group to be able to nominate land it will have to 
demonstrate that its activities are wholly or partly concerned with the 
local authority area where the asset sits or with a neighbouring authority 
(an authority which shares a boundary with the authority in which the 
asset is located). 
The voluntary or community bodies, which may make community 
nominations, are set out below: 
 

• Parish Councils -  This may be for an asset in its own area, or in 
   the neighbouring parish council. 

 
• Neighbouring Parish Councils - If the parish council borders an 

unparished area, then they may nominate an 
asset within the neighbouring district council or 
unitary council. 

 
• Unincorporated groups - Nominations can be accepted from any 

unincorporated group with membership of at 
least 21 local people who appear on the 
electoral roll within the local authority, or a 
neighbouring local authority. This will for 
instance enable nomination by a local group 
formed to try to save an asset, but which has 
not yet reached the stage of acquiring a formal 
charitable or corporate structure. 

 
• Neighbourhood forums - The procedure for becoming a 

neighbourhood forum is set out in s61F of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990, added by 
the Localism Act 2011. There can only be one 
neighbourhood forum for an area. 

 
• Locality Action Partnerships – This may be for an asset in its own area, or 

in a neighbouring LAP area. 
 

• Community interest groups with a local connection - These must have 
one or more of the following structures, and evidence must be 
provided, including relevant registration numbers, of this status:  

 a) A charity 
 b) A community interest company 
 c) A company limited by guarantee that is non-profit distributing 
 d) An industrial and provident society that is non-profit distributing 

(these groups will be renamed as community benefit societies by 
the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies and Credit 
Unions Act 2010 when it comes into force) 

 

Page 51



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

In this context, non-profit distributing means that any surplus is not 
distributed to its members but is wholly or partly applied to the local 
authority area where the asset is based or to a neighbouring authority 
area. 
 

Page 52



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

APPENDIX G 

 

Definition of an asset 

 
A building or other land should be considered an asset of community value 
if: 
 
• Its actual current use furthers the social wellbeing and interests of the 
local community, or a use in the recent past has done so; and 
 
• That use is not an ancillary one; and 
 
• For land in current community use it is realistic to think that there will 
continue to be a use which furthers social wellbeing and interests, or for 
land in community use in the recent past it is realistic to think that there 
will be community use within the next 5 years (in either case, whether or 
not that use is exactly the same as the present or past); and 
 
• It does not fall within one of the exemptions which are in the 
regulations, e.g. residential premises and land held with them.  
 
“Social interests” will be defined to include cultural, recreational, and 
sporting interests. With regard to “recent past”, our current view is that 
we will leave it to the local authority to decide, since “recent” might be 
viewed differently in different circumstances. For example, “recent” might 
be taken as a longer period for instance for land which was formerly used 
by the public until the MoD took it over for live ammunition practice, than 
for a derelict building. Ten or even twenty years might be considered 
recent for the former but not for the latter. 
 
Land that can’t be listed: 

 

• A residence together with land connected with that residence. 
 
• Land is connected with a residence, if: 
 

(a)  The land, and the residence, are owned by a single owner; and 
(b)  Every part of the land can be reached from the residence without 

having to cross land which is not owned by that single owner. 
 
• Residence means a building used or partly used as a residence; 
A building is a residence if— 
 

(i)  It is normally used or partly used as a residence, but for any 
reason so much of it as is normally used as a residence is 
temporarily unoccupied; 

(ii)  It is let or partly let for use as a holiday dwelling; 
(iii)  It, or part of it, is a hotel or is otherwise principally used for 

letting or licensing accommodation to paying occupants; or 
(iv)  it is a house in multiple occupation as defined in section 77 of the 

Housing Act 2004(a); and (c) A building or other land is not a 
residence if— 

Page 53



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

(i)  It is land on which currently there are no residences but for which 
planning Permission or development consent has been granted for 
the construction of residences; 

(ii)  It is a building undergoing construction where there is planning 
permission or development consent for the completed building to 
be used as a residence, but construction is not yet complete; or 

(iii) It was previously used as a residence but is in future to be used 
for a different purpose and planning permission or development 
consent for a change of use to that purpose has been granted. 

 
• Operational land as defined in section 263 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990(c). 

Page 54



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

APPENDIX H 

 

 

Community / 

voluntary 

Organisation 

Neighbourhood 

Planning 

Forum/LAP 

 
Parish Council 

Review is 
successful – 
asset is removed 
from the list. 

Business Improvement & Partnerships receive 
application and consult with ward councillors and the 
Asset Management Team in order to make 

recommendations to nominated member of EMT 

Nominated member of EMT consults with 

ward councillors on final decision 

Decides not to list asset 
Decides to list asset and add to the 

register (local land charges 

system??) 

Internal review requested (this must be within 8 
weeks of the council notifying owner). The appeals 
process must be carried out by two members of EMT 
(officers different to those involved in original 
decision) in consultation with ward councillors and/or 
the Leader of the Council. 

Identify Community 

Asset 

Review is 
unsuccessful –
owner has the 

option to take to 
appeal  

8
 w

e
e
k
s
 

8
 w

e
e
k
s
 f
ro

m
 

n
o
ti
fy

in
g
 o

w
n
e
r 

8
 w

e
e
k
s
 f

ro
m

 

d
a
te

 r
e
v
ie

w
 

re
q
u
e
s
te

d
. 

A
 

lo
n
g
e
r 

p
e
ri
o
d
 

c
a
n
 b

e
 a

g
re

e
d
 

w
it
h
 o

w
n
e
r 

in
 

w
ri
ti
n
g
  

Page 55



Page 56

This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

   

APPENDIX I 

 

ASSETS OF COMMUNITY VALUE - REGISTRATION FORM 

 

 
1. Your details 
 
a. Name 

___________________________________________________________ 
 
b. Address 

___________________________________________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________________________________ 
 
 
______________________________________ Postcode _____________ 

 
Is this your home address, or the organisation’s address?  Yes / No 
 

c. Contact number_____________________________________________ 

 
 
d. Email address______________________________________________ 

 
 
e. Who are you representing? (for example Parish Council/Community  
 
Group) _____________________________________________________ 
  
 
f. Please attach evidence that you have the authority of the group 
to make this nomination (for example minutes of a meeting where 
the decision is recorded) 
 
 
2. Asset name 

___________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________ 
 
 
3. Brief description of the nominated land/building and proposed boundaries 

(for example, age of asset or building, previous use and purpose, type of 
construction, timber frame, prefabricated concrete) 
 
___________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________ 
 

Page 57



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

   

___________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________ 
 
4. Asset address  
 

___________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________ Postcode ________ 
 
 
5. The name of current occupiers of the land  
 

___________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________ 
 
 
6. The name and current or last known address of all those holding a freehold 
or leasehold estate in the land  
 

___________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________ 
 
 

7. Nature of current/most recent use (please choose one category) 

 

 Health centre  Heritage 

 School  Green Space 

 Swimming Pool   Shop 

 Library  Theatre 

 Community Centre  Youth Centre 

 Children’s Centre  Town Hall 

 Day Care Centre  Residential Home 

 Hotel  Mixed Use 

 Offices  Religious building 

 Other (please state): 

 
 
8. Current status of the building/land (please choose the most appropriate) 
 

Page 58



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

   

 In Community Use  In Public Ownership 

 Under Consultation  Temporary Use 

 Empty Building  Empty Home 

 Disused Land  Surplus Property 

 Available for sale/rent/transfer  Under threat of closure 

 Under Transfer   

 Other (please state): 
9. Please explain briefly why you think it is an asset of community value 
 

___________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________ 
 
 
10. Does this building/land have a deadline for proposals? 
 

___________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
11. A photograph of the asset or any boundary drawings would be ideal to 
support the registration, so please attached to this form. 
 
 
 

Signature____________________________________________________ 

 
 

Print Name______________________________Date________________ 

Page 59



Page 60

This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

APPENDIX J 

 

 

Owner decides to sell asset and notifies 
Newcastle-under-Lyme Council. 

Newcastle-under-Lyme Council informs group 
who nominated asset that the owner has 

decided to sell. 

Newcastle-under-Lyme Council publishes 
intention to sell asset around neighbourhood. 

Website updated with intention to sell with the 
interim, full moratorium end dates and the end 

date of the protected dated. 

Community groups request in 
writing to be treated as a 
bidder for the asset which will 

bring full moratorium period. 

No request made 
by community 
group to 
Newcastle-under-
Lyme Council. 

Newcastle-under-Lyme Council 
lets the owner know that the 
request has been received and 

owner can’t dispose within the 
full moratorium period unless it 
is to the community group. 

Owner free to 
dispose of asset 

Community group prepare 
business plan and finance. 

Owner can sell to whoever they 
choose at the end of full 

window of opportunity 

Compensation – Internal Review 
13th week (90 days) after the loss of expense was incurred, 

i.e. of the end of the Interim or Full Moratorium period, the 

owner can place an application for compensation: must be 

written, amounts and include supporting evidence to 

Business Improvement and Partnerships. 

Compensation – First 
Tier Tribunal 
If owner is unhappy 

with the Council’s 

decision they can opt 

to take it to a First Tier 

Tribunal. And request 

compensation and 

reasonable legal costs. 

6
 M

o
n
th

 F
u
ll
 M

o
ra

to
ri

u
m

 P
e
ri

o
d
 

In
te

ri
m

 p
e
ri

o
d
- 

6
 w

e
e
k
s
 

Asset is listed on register. 

Page 61



Page 62

This page is intentionally left blank



Property 

Code Property Name

Previous  

Name Name/No. Address 1 Address 2 Locality Postal Town County Postcode Parish Ward LAP Area

Operational 

Status

NULBC  

Legal  

Interest

Property 

Type Property Use

Property 

Site Area -  

(m2) Grid Ref E Grid Ref N

Date Application 

Received

FREEHOLD

FREEHOLD

LEASEHOLD

LICENSEE

LICENSEE

Newcastle-under-Lyme Borough Council

P
age 63



P
age 64

T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPRENTICESHIPS 
 
Submitted by:  Executive Director Resources and Support Services 
 
Portfolio: Finance and Budget Management 
 
Ward(s) affected: Not Applicable 
 
 

Purpose of the Report 
 
To obtain approval for a proposal for the council to establish a Shared Apprenticeship Scheme with 
both public and private sector partner organisations. 
 
Recommendation 
 
That a Shared Apprenticeship Scheme be established as set out in this report to enable the 
employment of local young people and contribute to the economic regeneration of 
Newcastle-under-Lyme. 
 
Reasons 
 
To help support the worklessness agenda by increasing the number of employment opportunities 
for young local people to enable them to gain valuable work experience and a meaningful 
qualification as well as earning a wage. 

 
1. Background 

 
1,1  In previous years the council has employed up to 8 apprentices and work placements with 

funding support from the Future Jobs Fund which is no longer available.  The apprenticeship 
budget had previously been reduced and the council currently employs a total of 4 
apprentices across Streetscene (2), Garage Workshop and ICT.   
 

1.2  The council’s current workforce age and grade profile indicates an under representation of 
younger and/or less qualified or experienced employees.  Currently only 4.3% of our 
employees are aged 25 or under.  This compares with the Newcastle area in which 16-24 
year old people constitute 13.5% of the working age population.  Over the last three years 
the council’s recruitment activities have been very limited due to the need to deliver 
significant savings and the Council’s approach to managing vacancies and using 
redeployment to avoid compulsory redundancies as part of the savings process.  This has 
impacted on the council’s current employee profile.  It is therefore necessary for the council 
to consider initiatives that promote the recruitment of young employees who can be 
developed to meet the Council’s current and future talent needs. 
 

1.3 Unemployment rates for younger people not in education are consistently high. 2011 saw 
high unemployment rates for 18 to 20 year olds since comparable records began in 1992:  
36% of economically active 16-17 year olds who were out of school were unable to find a 
job.  67% of economically active 18-20 year olds who were out of school were unable to find 
a job. 
 

1.4 Innovative ways are needed to increase the number of employment opportunities for young 
local people to enable them to gain valuable paid work experience and a meaningful 
qualification and this is why a Shared Apprenticeship Scheme is being considered.  The 
apprenticeship scheme also addresses one of the Local Enterprise Partnership’s key 

Agenda Item 7

Page 65



priorities this is priority 6, ‘ensuring the skills and training of our workforce meet business 
needs by encouraging the take up of apprentices across businesses in our local area’. 
 

1.5 It is proposed to run a shared scheme working with various local public and private sector 
partners.  The intention is to provide a number of apprenticeships working within the council 
and across participating organisations on a shared basis.   
 

1.6 The Council would administer and coordinate the shared scheme and employ the 
apprentices on a fixed term contract.  The apprentices would gain valuable work experience 
by working with two or more partner organisations for a set period of time during their 
apprenticeship.  The Council would need to ensure that it only works with partners who are 
able to provide opportunities that are beneficial to the individual, so that they gain structured 
work experience that is focussed to meet the framework of their chosen career path and 
qualification.   
 

1.7 The council will be responsible for monitoring the apprentice’s progress during their work 
placements.  Each apprentice will be given a clear development and work experience plan 
that is aligned to their qualification and training progamme. This should ensure that they are 
able to apply what they have learnt in to the workplace. 
 

1.8 This approach will allow the apprentice to gain a wider range of relevant experience and 
skills through sharing on the job experiences from different employers and improve their 
career prospects.  It will also benefit existing employees by increasing their skills level 
through knowledge transfer from partner organisations. 
 

1.9 The scheme will help pool together resources and share the burden and responsibilities of 
training apprentices with partners who may not have the time or resources to take an 
apprentice on for the full duration of an apprenticeship.  In this approach no single 
organisation bears the total costs of financing the apprenticeship as the main financial 
contribution is towards the apprentices wage (plus the management fee) whilst they are 
working at the partner organisation during a work placement. 
 

1.10 Services that have been identified to offer apprentices suitable work experience are within 
the following areas, which would also need to be available in the partner organisations: 
 

� Customer Service 
� Business Administration 
� Finance 
� Sports and Leisure 
� Parks  
� Grounds Maintenance 
� Streetscene 
� ICT 
� Garage Workshop 
� Warehousing/ Fork Lift 

 
The benefits of the Scheme include: 
 

� increases cooperative and partnership working;  
� gives trainees a more varied work experience and hopefully increase further career 

opportunities; 
� options of various partners to work with; 
� choice of the most suitable training provider; 
� ability to offer more apprenticeships by working cooperatively with partners; 
� provides employment opportunities within the borough; and 

Page 66



� opportunity for the council to develop and be part of a high profile shared 
apprenticeship scheme. 

2. Issues 
 

2.1 The council needs to ensure there is an adequate supply of partners to host the apprentices.  
To date the following organisations have expressed an interest in participating in the 
Scheme: 
 
Stoke-on-Trent City Council, Glendale, Croppers Grounds Maintenance, Stoke College, 
Newcastle College, Reaseheath College, Nuffield Health and M Club. 
 
Further discussions are taking place with other potential partners. 
 

2.2 Discussions have taken place with JET (Jobs Enterprise & Training) who will assist with the 
initial selection of potential apprentices to ensure their suitability. 
 

2.3 It is essential that the individuals recruited on to the scheme are capable of completing an 
apprenticeship and are willing to work and to learn in their chosen career path. 
 

3. Options Considered 
 

3.1 Option 1 (recommended) 
 
Council’s Shared Partnership Scheme as outlined above 
 
Option 2 
 
3rd Party Provider 
 

3.2 The council joins a 3rd party Shared Apprentice Scheme taking in to consideration the 
following differences: 
 

� Apprentices are recruited through the 3rd party preferred training provider; 
� The 3rd party may only use one training  provider;  
� The 3rd party provider  decides which partners to work with; and 
� The 3rd party provider charge an additional management fee to the partner 
organisations. 

 
Potential benefits of this option: 

� The 3rd party provider is the formal employer and would co-ordinate the overall 
programme; and  
� Reduces administration burden of employing apprentices directly. 

 
Potential disadvantages: 

• Limits range of Training Providers which may not deliver meaningful learning 
outcomes; 

• Not being part of the recruitment process may not select the right candidate for 
the scheme; 

• Increase in numbers not completing the programme; 

• Increase the costs by paying a management fee; 

• Due to increased costs may limit number of apprenticeships offered;  

• Potential reduction in Partners participating in the scheme; and 

• May limit the range of placements offered. 
 

Page 67



4. Outcomes Linked to Corporate Priorities  
 

4.1 The initiative compliments the Sustainable Community Strategy in providing and improving 
economic wellbeing.  It also addresses the council’s priority a ‘Borough of Opportunity’. 
 

5. Legal and Statutory Implications  
 

5.1 The National Minimum Wage which increases the wages depending on the apprentices’ age 
after the first year of an apprenticeship. 
 

6. Equality Impact Assessment 
 

6.1 The council working in partnership with JET will ensure that the selection process is fair and 
does not discriminate on the grounds of sex, race, religion or belief, ethnic origin, age, 
marital status, disability, gender, marriage and civil partnership, or sexual orientation.  

  
7. Financial and Resource Implications 

 
7.1 Provision has been made in the 2013/14 budget of £40,000 to help finance the scheme. 

 
7.2  At this stage it is difficult to ascertain whether or not the full budget would be needed as this 

depends on the number of partners joining the shared scheme, the council securing funding 
and the number of apprentices recruited.   
 

7.3 The possibility is being explored of gaining government funding of between £1,500 up to 
£2,275 per apprentice which goes towards the salary bill.   
 

7.4 Partner organisations would be invoiced for the duration of the placement and charged a 
management fee of approximately 20%.  The management fee would need to cover 
administration, holiday pay, tax, employers national insurance and pension contributions.  
The % charged would be higher where apprentices opted to join the Local Government 
Pension Scheme.  
 

7.5 Management of the Scheme will be undertaken by staff in the Human Resources team from 
within the existing resources. 
 

8. Major Risks  
 

8.1 Not enough partners join the Scheme. 
 

8.2 Not enough suitable candidates are selected to join the Scheme.  
 

9. Sustainability and Climate Change Implications 
 
Not applicable. 
 

10. Key Decision Information 
 
Not applicable. 

 
11. Earlier Cabinet/Committee Resolutions 

 
Cabinet Meeting - 18 July 2012.  
 

Page 68



12. List of Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Apprenticeships Shared Partnership Scheme 2012/13 
 

13. Background Papers 
 
None 

Page 69



Page 70

This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A 

 

 
 

Apprenticeships 
Shared Partnership Scheme 

2012/13 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 71



APPENDIX A 

 
Introduction 
 
Newcastle under Lyme Borough Council is committed to help support the worklessness agenda by 
increasing the number of employment opportunities for young local people to enable them to gain valuable 
work experience and a qualification as well as earning a wage within North Staffordshire. 
 
A shared apprenticeship scheme is where more than one employer will work with the apprentice to ensure 
their work experience meets the framework requirements.  This approach offers a wide range of relevant 
work experience and skills through sharing on the job experiences from different employers which should 
help improve their career prospects.  The scheme will allow the trainee to benefit from the breath and depth 
of work experience offered.  It will also benefit existing employees by increasing their skills level through 
knowledge transfer. 
 
The council believe a shared scheme working with our partners will help to pool together our resources and 
share the burden and responsibilities of training apprentices who may not have the time or resources to 
take an apprentice on for the duration of the programme.  In this approach no single organisation bears the 
total costs of financing the apprenticeship as the only financial contribution is towards the apprentices wage 
(plus the management fee) whilst they are working at the partner organisation during a work placement.  
 

How the scheme works 
 
Potential career paths for apprentices are as follows: 
 

� Customer Service 
� Business Administration 
� Finance 
� Sports and Leisure 
� Parks  
� Grounds Maintenance 
� Streetscene 
� ICT 
� Garage Workshop 
� Warehousing/ Fork Lift 

 
Due to the varying requirements of each partner organisation, individual consultation will be required to 
design a fit-for-purpose scheme which complements and adds value.  The council will be happy to set up 
individual sessions to understand the individual partner needs and implementation challenges.   

 
The council would administer and coordinate the shared scheme and employ the apprentices, working with 
appropriate partners to ensure the apprentices work experience meets the framework requirements.  
However, we understand that some hosting organisations may not be able to meet the full requirements of 
the framework and therefore we will need to be flexible by working with the other partners to ensure the 
needs are met.    
 
The partner organisations would agree how many apprentices we would be able to employ. A programme 
would need to be agreed with the partners to host/rotate the apprentices for a set period of time giving the 
organisations the benefit of utilising the apprentice to greatest effect.  This option takes contracted workflow 
and projects into account and minimises the risk of each partner by alleviating their requirement to commit 
for a full 12 month period. 
 
The council will agree with partners an apprentice wage and terms to be applied over the duration of the 
apprenticeship which will be in line with the apprenticeship rate of pay currently set at £2.65 per hour for the 

Page 72



APPENDIX A 

first year, rising to the national minimum wage if the apprentice is aged 19 or over and  having completed 
12 months service.   
 
The apprentices will work 37 hours per week and will be entitled to 21 days annual leave plus statutory 
holidays (pro rata).   The working pattern will be Monday to Friday with start/finish times to be agreed by the 
partner organisation. Lunch breaks are also to be agreed by the individual partners. 
 
The duration of the placement will be agreed and will be no less than a 3 month period with each partner 
organisation. 
 
Apprentices will be employed on a fixed term contract for a period of between one to two years depending 
on their career/ qualification choice. 

 
The council would make the decision which training providers to work with for example Newcastle, Stoke or 
Reaseheath Colleges or use a combination of providers to ensure the trainees gain the most suitable 
training for their chosen subject area.  

 
Benefits of a shared scheme 
 
The benefits of the scheme: 
 

� would increase collaborative and partnership working;  
� give apprentices a more varied work experience; 
� increase further career opportunities; 
� increase the opportunity to gain permanent employment once completed the programme; 
� ability to offer more apprenticeships; 
� providing employment opportunities within the borough; and  
� opportunity to develop and be part of a high profile shared apprenticeship scheme.  

 
The partner agreement 
 
The participating partners will be asked to sign a Partnership Shared Apprenticeship Agreement which will 
include the following: 
 

� duration of the apprenticeship; 
� the council’s obligations; 
� partner responsibilities; 
� apprentice responsibilities;  
� partners agree to provide practical on-the-job training;  
� obligation to inform the council of any suitable permanent vacancies irrespective of whether or not  

the apprentice is currently working at the partner organisation;  
� agree to allow the apprentice up to 1 days study leave per week as part of the 37 hours per week to 

attend college;  
� agree to allow the apprentice to attend apprentice meetings and in-house training; and 
� agree to be responsible for the health & safety and welfare of the apprentices. 

 

What the council will offer as the employer 
 
The council will offer the following services: 
 

� a clear competency based recruitment process to employ the most suitable apprentices; 
� prepare job descriptions and person specifications; 
� advertise vacancies and manage the process; 
� employment responsibility for the apprentices; 

Page 73



APPENDIX A 

� designated point of contact; and 
� provide a development plan as part of the apprentices training. 

 
The apprentice will be placed on a 6 month probation period, at the end of this period; subject to 
satisfactory performance the apprentice’s employment on the scheme will be confirmed. 
 

Costs 
 
The council will invoice the partner organisations for the duration of placements which will be made up of; 
the agreed weekly wage and a management fee of approximately 20%. The management fee covers 
administration, holiday pay and employer national insurance.  The % will be approximately 30% where 
apprentices opt to join the Local Government Pension Scheme and employers pension contributions are 
then payable.   
 

Job Vacancies 
 
All apprentices taking part in the scheme are entitled to apply for any vacancies at the participating partner 
organisations.  The partners agree to send the council all suitable vacancies to advertise internally. 

 
Sarah Taylor 
Human Resources Manager 
Tel: 01782 742261 
Email: sarah.taylor@newcastle-staffs.gov.uk 
 

Page 74



AFFORDABLE HOUSING REGENERATION PARTNERSHIP 
 
Submitted by:  Neale Clifton 
 
Portfolio: Planning, Regeneration & Town Centres 
 
Ward(s) affected: All 
 
 

Purpose of the Report 
 
Significant physical, social and economic regeneration has been undertaken over many years in the 
borough, including most recently the housing led Renew programme.  Whilst these programmes 
have delivered many successes there are areas which could be improved further and it is 
appropriate that the Council considers partnerships and priority areas for future development, 
particularly in light of growing housing need against the backdrop of a sharp decline in the 
availability of external funding. 
 
Recommendations 
 
(a) That Cabinet considers the proposed Partnership approach proposed with Aspire 
Housing and authorises officers to prepare and execute a Partnership Agreement in 
consultation with the relevant Portfolio Holder based on the principles outlined. 
 
(b) That an appropriate Governance Structure is established including the Leader of the 
Council and/or Portfolio Holder and appropriate Senior Officers.  
 
(c) That the Partnership commits to a jointly funded feasibility appraisal and that the 
Council’s contribution is met from the existing strategic housing service budget.  
 
(d) That the Partnership Board be authorised to finalise the Partnership Agreement and 
to commission the Feasibility Study.  
 
Reasons 
As a Strategic Housing Authority the Council has a duty to provide housing to meet the needs of our 
residents and in line with housing and economic development priorities it is appropriate for the 
Council to consider ways to regenerate key areas of the borough.  This report outlines a partnership 
approach to delivering physical regeneration in conjunction with Aspire Housing.  It is appropriate 
that Cabinet considers the outlined partnership approach and gives direction to officers as to how 
the Council may wish to develop the approach. 

 
1. Background 

 
1.1 The Council has a strategic enabling role to ensure that housing is provided to meet the 

needs of local people.  Evidence demonstrates that there continues to be a significant need 
to provide affordable housing in the borough (by reviewing both the current Housing Register 
and Housing Market Assessment data).  For a variety of reasons it is anticipated that this 
need may become more acute for certain households (e.g. an increasing elderly population; 
changes arising from Welfare Reform legislation; an imbalance in the type and size of the 
current affordable housing stock; the ongoing impact of the global economic recession, 
particularly upon first time buyers, etc.). 
 

1.2 Through this strategic enabling role the Council works with relevant partner agencies to 
influence the development of housing, particularly the provision of affordable housing.  The 
Council has an adopted Local Investment Plan (LIP) which was produced with the support of 

Agenda Item 8

Page 75



local Registered Providers (formerly known as Housing Associations) to meet the 
requirements of the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA).  Of course, as a matter of 
principle, the Council welcomes discussions with any provider about the potential scope to 
bring forward appropriate schemes to deliver the ambitions of the LIP. 
 

1.3 Aspire Housing is the main affordable housing provider in the Borough, with significant 
experience of over the past decade delivering housing led regeneration initiatives.  Aspire 
also owns several significant sites in key former coalfield communities that have been the 
subject of past regeneration programmes; in particular, in locations such as Knutton/Cross 
Heath and Chesterton/Crackley.  The council owns land and/or property in those 
neighbourhoods too and has experience of enabling physical regeneration projects through 
the use of powers in Planning, Strategic Housing and in the Assets function. 
 

1.4 This reports sets out options for the Council and Aspire Housing to support the delivery of 
affordable housing and potentially other community facilities that could aid regeneration on 
sites where both partners have existing land ownership and are in line with the LIP. 
 

2. Issues 
 

2.1 Partnership working principles and objectives 
 
The Council and Aspire Housing have a shared ambition to deliver affordable housing and 
other community assets in Newcastle to meet the needs of our local residents.  It is therefore 
appropriate that both parties seek to work together on a more formalised basis in order to 
support the delivery of affordable housing.  In so doing it would be important to establish 
agreed principles/objectives at the outset and the following has emerged from discussions 
between the parties: 
 

• To ensure that affordable housing is delivered within short to medium term 
timescales, utilising land in key regeneration areas.  

• To deliver tenure diversification and a mix of housing type/tenure to meet the housing 
needs of the local community. 

• To improve the sustainability of key neighbourhoods through the provision of new 
housing and facilities for the community. 

• To continue the delivery of physical, social and economic regeneration, including the 
completion of schemes started under the Renew programme. 

• To benefit from the enabling role of the council through alignment of the Council’s  
resources including strategic housing and planning.   

• To maximise training and skills development in line with the Social Value Act, 
primarily through engagement with PM Training. 

• To provide employment opportunities for local contractors and sub-contractors. 

• To utilise the HCA’s OJEU-compliant DPP to secure the most appropriate 
development partners. 

• To work with other partner agencies such as Staffordshire County Council (where 
there are land ownership opportunities and links regarding community contributions) 
and Stoke on Trent City Council (as the accountable body for Renew for outstanding 
permission requirements).  

• To maximise the use of each other’s staff capacity and expertise by working towards 
common objectives. 

• To achieve best value and leverage from the combined physical assets and human 
resources of the partners to deliver agreed schemes. 

 

Page 76



It is envisaged that the partners will sign a Partnership Agreement which will clearly outline 
the approach to ensuring that each party’s interests and expected returns/risks are 
understood from the outset, based upon the broad principles set out above. 
 

2.2 Governance Structure  
 
Clearly there is a need to establish a governance structure which involves both the Council 
and Aspire Housing. At this stage officers are of the opinion that, in order for the Partnership  
to deliver effectively, it would be necessary to establish a Partnership Board including the 
Leader of the Council and/or relevant Portfolio Holder; this will enable the Council to hold 
regular meetings with Aspire to review progress and to give direction to officers. In order to 
implement the views of Cabinet and the proposed Partnership Board it is proposed to form a 
steering group comprising key senior officers from the Council and appropriate 
representatives of Aspire.  As the Partnership evolves it may be necessary to consider and 
agree upon some form of delegation scheme for decision making; equally the governance 
structure might need to be modified from time to ensure that it is fit-for-purpose (albeit based 
around the principles cited above).  
 

2.3 Project Feasibility and Timescales 
One of the benefits of developing a modest sized partnership with a focus on the 
regeneration of specific sites of mutual interest in the Borough should be that schemes can 
be developed effectively and importantly are deliverable. In order to provide early 
momentum it is recommended that the Partnership commits to a jointly funded feasibility 
appraisal and that the Council’s contribution is met from existing funding within the strategic 
housing research budget.  
 
Subject to Cabinet views it is proposed that the Partnership Agreement is developed over 
the next month on the basis of the principles set out and this is then followed by 
commissioning the feasibility study which could report in the summer of this year.  If the 
partnership proves viable it is reasonable to assume that a development partner could have 
been procured by the last quarter of 2013/14. 
 

3. Options Considered  
 

3.1 In simple terms the council has three options: (i) the Council could take no pro-active action 
to achieve the stated housing and regeneration objectives other than to deploy its enabling 
role; (ii) the council could consider developing new regeneration schemes in isolation of 
other partners or; (iii) a partnership approach could be considered.  
 

4. Proposal and Reasons for Preferred Solution 
 

4.1 Throughout the Renew programme a partnership approach was taken whereby the Borough 
Council worked with Stoke on Trent City Council and other partner agencies, particularly 
Aspire and other housing providers, to develop and implement housing-led regeneration 
schemes to address housing need.  This approach demonstrated that additional capacity, 
resources and skills could be combined across partner agencies to deliver schemes 
effectively.  As the main affordable housing provider in the borough who own land in key 
regeneration sites Aspire Housing is a key potential partner.  In particular both Aspire 
Housing and the council have significant land holdings in important regeneration locations 
and it is appropriate to work with Aspire Housing to consider regenerating and redeveloping 
these areas because of the mutuality of interest. 
 

Page 77



5. Outcomes Linked to Sustainable Community Strategy and Corporate Priorities 
 

5.1 The delivery of housing and regeneration contributes to the corporate priorities of Creating a 
Cleaner, Safer and Sustainable Borough and a Borough of Opportunity. 
 

6. Legal and Statutory Implications  
 

6.1 There is no legal or statutory requirement for the Council to take a partnership approach; 
neither is there any barrier to prevent it provided procurement legislation is adhered to.  The 
Council could consider working alone however the partnership approach seeks to deliver 
schemes in the most resource-efficient and effective manner.  Should the partnership 
approach be approved then it is recommended that a legal agreement is developed to 
specify each partner’s intentions.  Should the partnership at a future date, and subject to 
future Cabinet reports, agree to specific schemes then there will be a requirement to secure 
appropriate development partners/contractors through a suitably competitive or OJEU-
compliant process and, in due course, to enter into legally binding contracts.  At this stage 
the proposed approach is for the two parties to jointly procure a development partner from 
the HCA’s OJEU-compliant framework. 
 

7. Equality Impact Assessment 
 

7.1 The priorities of housing and regeneration are outlined in the adopted Housing Strategy, 
upon which an EIA has been completed.  
 

8. Financial and Resource Implications 
 

8.1 The recommended course of action seeks to develop a partnership approach based on the 
principles set out above which will then lead onto the Partnership undertaking a feasibility 
study. It is recommended that this cost will be met equally between Aspire Housing and the 
Council (probably about £20k in total).  This cost would be met from within the existing 
strategic housing service budgets.  
 

8.2 Should the feasibility assessment demonstrate that there are viable regeneration schemes 
then further reports will be made to outline the options including opportunities, risks and 
financial implications.  At the development of the options stage consideration will need to be 
given to funding requirements including any Council funding (which could involve the 
contribution of land or property in lieu of capital funding) and the potential to secure external 
funding from partners such as the Homes and Communities Agency.  
 

9. Major Risks  
 

9.1 A project-specific risk assessment will be undertaken to identify risks in relation to the 
partnership overall and for specific sites as the feasibility studies are developed. 
 

10. Key Decision Information 
 

10.1 The proposed partnership will cover more than one ward. 
 

11. Earlier Cabinet/Committee Resolutions 
 
None. 
 

12. List of Appendices 
 
None 

Page 78



 
13. Background Papers 

 
13.1 There is a range of Government / HCA guidance and reports that encourage Local 

Authorities to facilitate growth through utilisation of land assets. 

Page 79



Page 80

This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 

 HOME ENERGY CONSERVATION ACT 1995 PROGRESS REPORT MARCH 2013 – 2015 
  

Submitted by:  Housing Manager, Mike O’Connor  
 
Portfolio: Environment and Recycling 
 
Ward(s) affected: All 

 
 

Purpose of the Report 
 
To seek Cabinet approval for submission of any energy report return to Government in accordance 
with the requirements of the Home Energy Conservation Act (HECA) 1995.  
 
Recommendations 
 
To approve the overall HECA Progress Report and to authorise officers in conjunction with 
the Portfolio Holder to make any minor amendments prior to submitting the report to the 
Secretary of State by the 31st March 2013. 
 
Reasons 
 
The HECA was enacted in 1995 and placed a responsibility on local authorities, who were deemed 
as Energy Authorities, to publish a report setting out actions to improve energy efficiency within 
residential properties. It is appropriate to consider the draft report and associated resource 
requirements. 

 
1. Background 
 
1.1 Newcastle under Lyme Borough Council published a series of HECA reports, the most 

recent being in 2008.  Thereafter, for a period from 2008 to 2012, no reports were produced, 
as Central Government gave local authorities an exemption from the requirement of 
producing and publishing annual reports. 

 
1.2 In 2012, the Government requested that the annual report be produced and be submitted to 

the Secretary of State by the 31st March 2013 and every two years subsequently. The 
reinstatement of the requirement to produce annual reports was driven by the recent policy 
of Green Deal and Energy Company Obligation. 

 
1.3 A guidance document has been produced by Department of Energy and Climate Change 

(DECC) with recommendation as to what should be included within the HECA Report. This 
guidance document recommends that authorities should consider how they will use 
Government initiatives including Green Deal, the Energy Company Obligation and 
Renewable Heat Incentives to improve energy efficiency of residential properties. 

 
2. Issues 
 
2.1 DECC have provided a template for the report and this has been used to produce the 

council’s HECA report. 
  

2.2 The HECA Progress Report 2013-2015 details the following projects and activities that the 
Borough Council will undertake and facilitate in the forthcoming years: 

 
 
 

Agenda Item 9

Page 81



 

2 

 Green Deal and Energy Company Obligation [ECO] 
 

There are 3 options available to local authority as to how they should approach Green Deal 
Promoter, Partnership or Provider. Each of these options has advantages and 
disadvantages. Officers recommend that the council ought to adopt the partnership 
approach. It is expected that this will ensure that the funding will remain within the area and 
local businesses will be involved in delivering the installations. 
 
In particular officers are looking to take a partnership approach to Green Deal and ECO, 
working with Stoke on Trent City Council and Cheshire West and Chester Council to 
establish an agency, which will secure ECO funding and manage Green Deal across the 
North Staffordshire region and into parts of Cheshire.   

 
We will undertake preparatory work in an attempt to mitigate potential barriers to Green 
Deal, such as addressing any potential planning issues, which may impede the installation of 
external Green Deal and ECO measures. 

 

  Feed in Tariffs scheme and Renewable Heat Premium Payment  
 

 The Borough Council does not hold residential housing stock. Nevertheless we have 
installed solar PV arrays to some of our buildings, which will act as an exemplar to the 
community.   
There are approximately 9,500 social rented properties within the Borough. We will work with 
the Registered Social Landlords and facilitate the installation of energy measures within the 
Borough. Aspire Housing, the largest RSL within the Borough have recently installed solar 
PV arrays to 400 properties saving an estimated £100 per year in electricity costs for each 
household.  
 
Advice to Developers on Energy Efficiency on reducing carbon emissions 

 
Newcastle under Lyme is part of a Staffordshire wide consortium, which will formulate 
guidance on Sustainable Construction and Renewable Energy.    
 

Minimum standards in the private rental sector 
  

We will continue to enforce Housing and Health Rating System contained within the Housing 
Act 1984 to reduce the effects of excess cold on occupants. We will also encourage high 
standards through the North Staffordshire Landlord Accreditation Scheme which promotes 
high energy efficiency standards in private rented housing stock. 

 
Reduction of Energy Costs  
 
Newcastle under Lyme recognise the potential benefits of the collective switching scheme 
for the residents of Newcastle under Lyme and will be working with “People’s Power”, who 
were successful in their bid to DECC to deliver the scheme within the Borough. Although, the 
scheme is open to all residents, there will be a specific focus in engaging vulnerable 
residents and tenants, who are otherwise, disengaged from seeking the best price for 
energy. It is anticipated that this will have a positive impact on alleviating fuel poverty within 
the Borough. 

 
3. Outcomes Linked to Sustainable Community Strategy and Corporate Priorities 
 
3.1 The energy efficiency agenda and activity contained within the HECA Progress Report will 

contribute specifically to the corporate priority of creating a cleaner, safer and sustainable 
Borough. 

Page 82



 

3 

 
3.2 Furthermore, the energy efficiency agenda and activity will support local objectives / delivery 

plans including the priorities set out Newcastle under Lyme Energy Efficiency and Climate 
Change Strategy 2010-2015, the Corporate Plan and Sustainable Community Strategy, the 
Housing Strategy 2011-15 and Private Sector Renewal programmes.  

 
4. Legal and Statutory Implications  
 
4.1 The HECA was enacted in 1995 and placed a responsibility on local authorities, who were 

deemed as Energy Authorities to publish a report setting out actions to improve energy 
efficiency within residential properties which has to be submitted to the Secretary of State by 
the 31st March 2013 and every two years subsequently. 

 
5. Equality Impact Assessment 

 
5.1 The HECA is not intended to be a new policy document rather it aims to record and detail 

the energy efficiency related activities that have taken place or will take place. The activities 
referenced in the HECA have been primarily been formulated by departments of Central 
Government.  
 

6. Financial and Resource Implications 
 
6.1 The production of the HECA Progress Report for 2013 has been completed within existing 

resources. However, it must be borne in mind that the actions contained within the HECA 
Progress Report, particularly those that are linked to the Green Deal and Energy Company 
Obligation will have resource implications. The Housing Capital Programme allocated 
£60,000 to this area of work. 
 

7. Major Risks  
 
7.1 If the Council fails to submit the HECA Progress Report the Council won’t meet its statutory 

duty as set out in the Home Energy Conservation Act. By considering the main aspects of 
the draft report at Cabinet and authorising officer to submit the report in consultation with the 
Portfolio Holder there will be an opportunity to incorporate amendments discussed at 
Cabinet by the submission deadline. 
 

8. Sustainability and Climate Change Implications 
 
8.1 The HECA Progress Report will have a positive impact on sustainability and Climate 

Change. 
 
9. Key Decision Information 
 
9.1 This report covers all wards.  

 
10. List of Appendices 
 

 10.1 Home Energy Conservation Act 1995 Progress Report March 2013 – 2015 
 

Page 83



Page 84

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
Home Energy Conservation Act 1995 Progress Report March 

2013 - 2015 
 

ACTION DESCRIPTION TIMING 

i) LOCAL ENERGY EFFICIENCY AMBITIONS AND PRIORITIES   

 The Energy Efficiency and Climate Change Strategy 2011 – 2016 has the objective of 
‘reducing carbon dioxide emissions from domestic dwellings and commercial premises by 
promoting energy efficiency.’ 
 
The Government has set a target of cutting carbon by 80% by 2050 nationally, the council 
will use its leadership role to encourage and lead by example to ensure that residents 
businesses and  organisations are able to make their own contribution. 
 
The  performance on carbon emissions and fuel poverty is 2.3 tonnes  of CO2 per capita 
and 21.6% of households are fuel poor [data from DECC Fuel Poverty Statistics 2010]. 
The number of fuel poor households  is 5.2% more than the national average. 
 
.We will aim to reduce fuel poverty within the Borough by promoting initiatives and 
supporting key programmes, such as Green Deal, ECO and income maximisation 
projects. This will take account of the revised approach to measuring fuel poverty and an 
alternative definition of fuel poverty expected from the Government later this year 
following the review it commissioned led by Professor John Hills.  
 
The Council is a signatory  to the Nottingham Declaration and intends to commit to the 
Local Government Association  initiative “Climate Local”. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2016 
 
 
 
 
2016 
 
 
 
 
2013 

ii) MEASURES WE ARE TAKING TO RESULT IN SIGNIFICANT ENERGY EFFICIENCY IMPROVEMENTS OF OUR RESIDENTIAL 
ACCOMMODATION  

P
age 85



 

 

ACTION DESCRIPTION TIMING 

 

Green Deal and ECO  
 There are a 3 approaches local authorities might choose to adopt in engaging with the   Green Deal: 

Promoter, Partnership or Provider. Each of these options have advantages and disadvantages. However, the 

position that Newcastle under Lyme Borough Council wishes to take is the partnership approach. This will help 

ensure that the funding will remain within the area and local businesses will be involved in delivering the 

installations 

The council are  working with Stoke on Trent City Council and Cheshire West and Chester 
Council to establish an agency to  deliver a one stop shop approach that will; provide 
focussed marketing and promotion, secure ECO funding and manage Green Deal/Eco 
measures across the North Staffordshire region and Cheshire.   
 
Internally the council will undertake preparatory work to remove potential barriers to Green 
Deal by developing a local approach to address any potential planning issues so that 
green deal applicants can be fully aware of any planning implications associated with 
installing particular measures.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2013 
 
 
 
 
2013 

Feed in Tariffs scheme  
 

The Borough Council does not hold residential housing stock. It has however, installed 
solar PV arrays to it’s leisure centre which acts as an exemplar to the community.   
 
There are approximately 9,500 social rented properties within the Borough. We will work 
with the Registered Social Landlords and facilitate the installation of energy measures 
within the Borough. Aspire Housing, the largest RSL within the Borough have recently 
installed solar PV arrays to 400 properties saving an estimated £100 per year in electricity 
costs for each household. 

 
 
 
2014 

Renewable Heat Premium Payment  
 

Aspire Housing was successful in securing funds from the Social Landlords elements of 
the Renewable Heat Premium Payment to install 57 air source heat pumps to their off gas 
housing stock. A further round of funding will be available, which they will seek to access 
for additional off-gas properties. 

 
 
2013 

Zero Carbon Homes  
 

To ensure all new built homes are zero carbon by 2016 we as part of a Staffordshire wide 
consortium of local authorities will formulate guidance on Sustainable Construction and 
Renewable Energy.  The guidance will provide information, to building contractors  
particularly those that are building extensions to ensure they  develop efficient buildings,,  

 
2014 

EPCs  We will continue to ensure that landlords, agents and those selling or letting their homes Ongoing 

P
age 86



 

 

ACTION DESCRIPTION TIMING 
 are aware of their legal obligation to provide and make available Energy Performance 

Certificates (EPCs).  

Minimum standards in the private 
rental sector  
 

We will continue to enforce the  Housing and Health Rating System contained within the 
Housing Act 2004 to reduce the effects of excess cold upon occupants by requiring 
repairs and insulation measures by notice if necessary. We will also encourage high 
standards through the North Staffordshire Landlord Accreditation Scheme which requires 
high energy efficiency standards in dwellings let within the scheme. 

Ongoing  

Smart meters  
 

The major national roll out of smart meters will start in 2014 with the aim of all households 
receiving them by 2019. We will work with energy companies who are delivering ECO, 
Green Deal and other assistance to seek for them to provide at nil cost to residents smart 
meters whilst they undertake the improvement works to their homes. 

2014 

Reduction of Energy Costs Newcastle under Lyme recognise the potential benefits of a collective switching scheme 
for the residents of the borough and will be working with the People’s Power, who were 
successful in their funding to DECC to deliver a scheme within the Borough. Although, the 
scheme is open to all residents, there will be a specific focus in engaging vulnerable 
residents and tenants, who are otherwise, disengaged from seeking the best price for 
energy. It is anticipated that this will have a positive impact on the alleviating fuel poverty 
within the Borough. 

2013 

iii) MEASURES WE PROPOSE TO COST EFFECTIVELY DELIVER ENERGY EFFICIENCY IMPROVEMENTS IN RESIDENTIAL ACCOMMODATION BY 
USING AREA BASED/STREET BY STREET ROLL OUT.  
 

 The following super output areas have been identified within Newcastle under Lyme as 
being eligible for Carbon Savings Community Obligation (CSCO): 

• Newcastle-under-Lyme 010B: Lower Milehouse, Cross Heath 

• Newcastle-under-Lyme 010C  Saints Estate Knutton & Silverdale 

• Newcastle-under-Lyme 007B Audley Road/Crackley Chesterton 

• Newcastle-under-Lyme 003D  Butt Lane 

• Newcastle-under-Lyme 002C Kidsgrove 
 
The CSCO is also applied to households in rural areas who are deemed to be in the 
Affordable Warmth Group.  
 
It proposed  that area based energy efficiency retrofit schemes approach will be delivered  
within these areas, and  measures will be installed in a large number of these properties. 
 
The Council will identify those lower super output areas which have high numbers of  fuel 

 
 
Ongoing  

P
age 87



 

 

ACTION DESCRIPTION TIMING 
poverty households, particularly those in the private sector. These residents are more 
likely to require energy efficiency measures than those living in social housing where due 
to previous programmes measures have already been installed. These will become 
priority areas for the promotion and delivery of measures to be funded by  the Affordable 

Warmth Target and the Carbon Emission Reduction Target of ECO.  

 

iv) TIME FRAME FOR DELIVERY AND NATIONAL AND LOCAL PARTNERS  
 
 We are looking to take a partnership approach to Green Deal and ECO, working with 

Stoke on Trent City Council and Cheshire West and Chester Council to establish an 
agency, which will secure ECO funding and manage Green Deal across the North 
Staffordshire region and Cheshire.   
  
We will establish a forum of local partners, consisting of Registered Social Landlords, 
Revival Home Improvement Agency, Beat the Cold which will meet on a quarterly basis to 
explore and  co-ordinate the opportunities presented by the ECO, Green Deal and other 
initiatives.   

 

 
 
 
2013 

   

 
SIGNED OFF BY:   

    

POSITION:  Chief Executive  

  

P
age 88



 

1 

NEWCASTLES OF THE WORLD ALLIANCE 
 
Submitted by: Neale Clifton, Executive Director, Regeneration and Development 
 
Portfolio: Cross-cutting but predominantly Planning, Regeneration and 

Town Centres 
 
Ward(s) affected: All 
 
 

Purpose of the Report: 
 
To establish whether Members wish to continue participating in the ‘Newcastles of the World’ 
Alliance, specifically with the following aims:  
 

a) To further develop business, educational and cultural links with other Newcastles around 
the world; 

b) To work in partnership with Newcastle-upon–Tyne and other members of the Alliance to 
progress an Alliance website and investment of officer time into further developing 
tourism links; 

c) To support the establishment of an Alliance secretariat and to prioritise officer resources 
in order to ensure that the council is a credible partner;  

d) To commit ‘in principle’ to attend the next World Conference in 2014 and to prioritise  
officer resources from January 2014 to prepare for the event to maximise the outcomes 
and; 

e) To support the Mayoress and work with Keele University, Newcastle College, 
Staffordshire County Council and local schools to develop the Youth aspects of the 
Alliance (including education). 

 
Decision required: 
 
Do members wish, in principle, to continue participating in the Newcastles of the World Alliance?  If 
so: 
 
Recommendations: 
 
a) That the council endorses the overall priority themes of the draft Development Plan and 

agrees to ongoing participation in the Alliance, including a preparedness to contribute up 
to £2,500 p.a. towards secretarial costs met from the existing budget.  

b) That the council commits to working with appropriate partners to improve global 
business, educational and cultural links to other Newcastles. 

c) That the council actively supports the development of an Alliance website, including 
developing tourism and media links to promote ‘good news’ stories about the Borough. 

d) That the council agrees, in principle, to attend the 2014 summit, subject to consideration 
as part of the budget-setting process in 2014/15. 

e) That the council agrees to support partners in developing the youth aspect of the 
Alliance. 

f) That officers be authorised to engage with the current secretariat on the basis set out in 
this report and to report back to members on progress with the Alliance or when key 
decisions are required. 

g) That the matter be referred to the Economic Development and Enterprise Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee for their comments. 

 
 
 

Agenda Item 10

Page 89



 

2 

Reasons 
 
The Newcastles of the World Alliance offers potential to develop effective global business, 
educational and cultural links for the benefit of the borough’s various communities of interest. If the 
council considers that the Alliance provides a mechanism to achieve such benefits it will be 
important to ensure that the level of resources required represents good value for money. 

 
1. Background 
 

1.1. The Council has been a member of the ‘Newcastles of the World’ partnership since 1998 and has 
attended the biennial summit on most occasions since.  Previous Cabinet reports have highlighted 
the potential benefits of the Alliance and discussed the setting up of a joint website and maximising 
links between the participating towns.  
 

1.2. Prior to the 2012 summit, very little practical action has taken place to establish tangible benefits 
from the participants’ involvement, other than the biennial gathering which has tended to focus 
upon cultural, educational and tourism issues. However, Newcastle-upon-Tyne City Council, a 
relative newcomer and host to the 2012 summit, has kick-started a re-energisation of the Alliance in 
response to the “Joint Declaration” that was signed at the end of that event (see Appendix). In the 
immediate short-term Newcastle-upon-Tyne City Council has provided a secretariat role. Also a 
website has been established (www.newcastlesoftheworld.com), a newsletter has been produced 
containing good news stories from members of the Alliance and a Facebook page has been 
created.   

 
2. Issues 

2.1. ‘Newcastles of the World is an alliance of towns and cities that share the name Newcastle. The 
main aim of the Alliance is to share, enjoy and promote interest in their varied heritage, 
environment and culture, in particular creating educational opportunity and economic benefit for the 
people of the respective Newcastles. Newcastle-upon Tyne City Council has prepared a draft 
development plan which seeks to deliver a series of specific outcomes to further these aims.  
 

2.2. The key extracts from the draft “Development plan” are as follows: 
 
2.2.1. Involve all or some of the Newcastles in the one or more of seven main areas of joint 

working, possibly identifying a lead Newcastle for each area and selecting one or two projects 
to tackle. 
 

2.2.1.1. Tourism - To develop a common Newcastles tourism brand that can be promoted to 
the citizens of our towns, cities and surrounding areas 
 

2.2.1.2. Supporting good governance in our municipalities 
 

2.2.1.3. Business and economic development - Identifying key business sectors where 
there is opportunity to collaborate and trade 
 

2.2.1.4. Education and Young People - encouraging our young people to develop contacts 
with each other, to help them have a better understanding of the world. 
 

2.2.1.5. Culture and Heritage – building contacts between our museums and galleries, 
artists and arts groups, participating in global heritage research projects, etc. 
 

2.2.1.6. Sport - International visits and tours, competitions and tournaments, best practice 
ideas for widening participation and encouraging healthy lifestyles 
 

Page 90



 

3 

2.2.1.7. The environment/sustainability - Sharing experience and skills in best 
environmental practice in our municipalities, Involving our young people in conservation 
projects 
 

2.2.2. The draft development plan indicates minimum recommended requirements to underpin 
success in delivering the aims of the Alliance as follows: 
 

2.2.2.1. A good quality website, regularly updated, and supported by other social media – (in 
place but needs to be promoted more and the functionality improved) 
 

2.2.2.2. A regular newsletter that can be shared widely by each Newcastle 
 

2.2.2.3. Regular contact between the political leadership to track, progress and support 
the commitments that have been made. 
 

2.2.2.4. A contact person in each Newcastle who is identified as responsible for regular 
communications and links, and whose work is endorsed and supported by the political 
leadership. 
 

2.2.2.5. A Newcastles of the World central coordinator to link the leaders and contacts, and 
to oversee the work of the alliance. 
 

2.2.2.6. Champions, or lead members, for each major initiative or project. 
 

2.2.2.7. Regular funds that can be drawn upon to support activity. 
 

2.2.2.8. A forward programme for the hosting of future summits. 
 

2.2.3. The draft development plan goes on to review the following options for project/programme 
co-ordination, development and funding: 
 

2.2.3.1. A paid-for secretariat (full or part-time) of at least one person to oversee and 
coordinate the work of the alliance at each summit and between summits. 
 

2.2.3.2. A volunteer (from any of the Newcastles) to act as permanent coordinator. 
 

2.2.3.3. Rotation of the secretariat on the basis of the hosting programme. 
 

2.2.3.4. A mix of the above. 
 

2.2.3.5. Funding options for a full-time secretariat – each Newcastle to pay an annual 
subscription,  
 

2.2.3.5.1. A flat rate based on population band 
2.2.3.5.2. A sliding scale, say £25 for every 1000 population 
2.2.3.5.3. Combination of the two, e.g. flat rate of £1000 and £10 per 1000 population  

 
2.3. In view of the above the borough council must now determine whether it wishes to continue 

participating in this Alliance taking account of the potential outcomes and the resource implications, 
set in the context of the Council Plan, Service Strategies and Plans and associated revenue 
budgets. 
  
2.3.1. The Development Plan’s anticipated outcomes in relation to ‘Tourism’, ‘Business and 

Economic development’ and ‘Education and Young People’ would support a number of 
objectives in the council’s Economic Development Strategy, particularly those related to 

Page 91



 

4 

‘strengthening the business base’, ‘transforming ambition’ and ‘transforming perceptions’. 
 

2.3.2. The Development Plan supports the Council Plan priorities and outcomes, in particular that 
local people will be able to access opportunities for personal development and growth 
(Borough of Opportunity); levels of cultural activity and participation in the arts will have 
increased (Healthy and Active Community); Councillors will be community champions and 
powerful community advocates. Increasing the resilience in communities by building effective 
and strong partnerships across the borough and utilising public and community resources (A 
co-operative council). 

 
2.4. Bearing in mind this is a two tier authority, education links ideally need the support of the County 

Council (ideally along with local H&FE providers), if they are to move forward significantly. Tourism 
in the Borough is carried out with support from the county-wide Destination Management 
Partnership. So if the Council wishes to support the Alliance then it is most appropriate to channel 
delivery of Tourism and Education links via the DMP and County Council-led education networks 
where possible.  

 
2.5. With regard to business opportunities the Council could exploit the scope to promote inward 

investment opportunities by providing links into the Inward Investment service for Stoke-on-Trent 
and Staffordshire. Realistically the promotion of trading activities would be best handled via links 
into the North Staffordshire Chamber of Commerce and Industry and the UK Trade and Investment 
body. This is likely to require, by agreement, some re-alignment of current service arrangements 
from these organisations. 
 

2.6. Clearly with all areas of work there is a decision as to what level of resources are invested and this 
usually takes into consideration the likely outcome and benefits. Historically the Council has not 
allocated significant resources to the Alliance (there has been a modest revenue budget earmarked 
and there has been very little ‘in-kind’ officer time dedicated to the Alliance’s work). A significant 
part of the work undertaken in this last year has been undertaken directly by the Mayor and 
Mayoress with limited officer support.  
 

2.7. Whilst further investment in the Staffordshire Destination Management Partnership may generate 
greater returns for tourism, relatively low level support, such as the linking of the Council website to 
a Newcastles’ website and submitting press releases to the newsletter will highlight tourism and 
education opportunities between the areas.  The Newcastles’ Alliance offers a unique basis for 
education and learning particularly for younger children that could link to core areas of the national 
curriculum. As indicated earlier, the County Council’s input in this regard would be vitally important 
if sustainable links are to be forged. 
 

2.8. It is acknowledged that, if the Alliance is to become more formalised with the aim of delivering clear 
outcomes, then there should be a core resource to call upon. By having a secretariat not only 
would there be clear accountability for delivering the bi-annual summit event but the range of 
activities listed in the draft Development Plan have greater likelihood of being delivered.. In turn this 
helps the council to demonstrate what is being delivered for the benefit of its local community. Your 
officers consider that the option of establishing a full-time secretariat is not justifiable at this stage. 
In the event that a formal shared secretariat is preferred (i.e. if there is no prospect of securing a 
volunteer or host country secretariat) then a contribution of £2,500 p.a. to enable the establishment 
of a part-time secretariat is considered both reasonable and appropriate and can be funded from 
the existing budgetary provision. 
 

3. Options Considered  
3.1. Ceasing membership altogether – having been a member since its inception, and with no other 

‘twinning’ arrangements in place, it may seem a waste of past resources to cease membership 
altogether, particularly in the light of the recent re-energisation of the Alliance following the 2012 
summit. Nevertheless the council should satisfy itself that the draft development plan ambitions are 

Page 92



 

5 

aligned with the council’s agreed priorities and that involvement with this Alliance represents good 
value for money. 
 

3.2. Passive support (no input other than attending biennial summits) – this is not a viable option. If the 
council is not prepared to support the development of the Alliance it would not be a credible partner 
in the eyes of the other participating countries.  
 

3.3. Active support (web links, educational links, etc) – recommended option to maximise the benefits of 
the re-energisation of the Alliance and fully explore potential educational and tourism links.  
 

4. Proposal 
 

4.1 That the council endorses the overall priority themes of the draft Development Plan and agrees to 
ongoing participation in the Alliance, including a preparedness to contribute up to £2,500 p.a. 
towards secretarial costs met from the existing budget.  

4.2 That the council commits to working with appropriate partners to improve global business, 
educational and cultural links to other Newcastles. 

4.3 That the council actively supports the development of an Alliance website, including developing 
tourism and media links to promote ‘good news’ stories about the Borough. 

4.4 That the council agrees, in principle, to attend the 2014 summit, subject to consideration as part of 
the budget-setting process in 2014/15. 

4.5 That the council agrees to support partners in developing the youth aspect of the alliance. 
4.6 That officers be authorised to engage with the current secretariat on the basis set out in this report 

and to report back to members on progress with the Alliance or when key decisions are required. 
4.7 That the matter be referred to the Economic Development and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee for their comments. 
 
5. Reasons for Preferred Solution 

 
5.1. The Newcastles of the World Alliance offers potential to develop effective global business, 

educational and cultural links for the benefit of the borough’s various communities of interest. If the 
council considers that the Alliance provides a mechanism to achieve such benefits it will be 
important to ensure that the level of resources required is both available and represents good value 
for money. 
 

6. Outcomes Linked to Sustainable Community Strategy and Corporate Priorities 
 
6.1. Outcomes from these actions will impact the ‘Borough of Opportunity’ corporate priority, in terms of 

tourism, quality of life and educational opportunities. 
 

7. Legal and Statutory Implications  
7.1. There is no statutory requirement to carry out these recommendations.  

 
8. Equality Impact Assessment 

 
8.1. An Equality Impact Assessment has not been carried out but the recommendations will help to 

engender a better understanding of the world at large, particularly for younger people through links 
with schools. 
 

9. Financial and Resource Implications 
 
9.1. If the Council is serious about being part of the Newcastle’s World Alliance then it will be necessary 

for resources to be allocated as part of the budget setting process. The draft Development Plan 
highlights the potential level of expectation regarding core funding to maintain core services 
through a secretariat; this could amount to £10,000 p.a. for this council if the full-time secretariat 

Page 93



 

6 

option were to be pursued. A part-time secretariat would cost about £2,500 p.a. Of course the 
volunteer option would require no contribution whilst the rolling secretariat option would only require 
funding on those occasions when the council may offer to host a summit. 
 

9.2. In terms of involvement with the bi-annual Conference the main costs comprise the delegate fee of 
about £700 along with the cost of transport (in most cases likely to involve flights). Looking forward 
if the Council attended the next Alliance conference this level of cost should be budgeted for in 
addition to the annual subscription referred to above. It would therefore be appropriate to identify 
the number of attendees and allocate an appropriate budget (historically the official delegation has 
comprised the Mayor, Leader or Portfolio Holder and a senior officer). It should be noted that the 
expenses incurred in 2012 were minimal as the event was hosted by Newcastle upon Tyne City 
Council whereby the Mayor and Mayoress represented the council’s interests unaccompanied by 
any other members or officers. 

 
9.3. At present there is budgetary provision of £3,000 in the council’s base revenue budget. There 

would be a modest in-kind cost of providing ongoing officer support which would be achieved by re-
prioritising the work programme of the Regeneration team. 
 

10. Major Risks  
 
10.1 There are no major risk implications other than potential reputational damage. The latter should be 
mitigated by having a clear business plan with outcomes that are aligned with the council’s key 
priorities.  
 

11. Key Decision Information 
 
11.1 There is no key decision arising in this case. 
 

12. Earlier Cabinet/Committee Resolutions 
 
12.1 Minutes 664 (2002), 1117 (2003) and 818 (2007) refer 
 

13. List of Appendices 
 

14. Background Papers 
 

14.1 Draft development Plan including Joint Declaration from the 2012 summit (available on request). 
 

Page 94



ESTABLISHMENT OF CABINET PANEL 
 
Submitted by:  Executive Director (Resources and Support Services)  
 
Portfolio: Finance and Budget Management 
 
Ward(s) affected: All 
 
 

Purpose of the Report 
 
To establish a cross-party Cabinet Panel to make recommendations to Cabinet in respect of 
expenditure from the Revenue Investment Fund and the Budget Support Fund in respect of funding 
“Invest to Save” schemes. 
 
Recommendations 
 
(a) That a Revenue Investment and Budget Support Cabinet Panel be established with a 
membership of seven appointed on the basis of political proportionality (Labour 4; 
Conservative 2; Liberal Democrat 1). 
 
(b) That the portfolio holder for Finance and Budget Management be appointed to chair 
the panel. 
 
(c) That the group leaders be requested to make nominations for membership of the 
panel from their respective groups in accordance with (a) above. 
 
(d) That the Panel make recommendations to Cabinet in respect of proposed expenditure. 
 
Reasons 
 
There is a need to establish a mechanism for considering proposals for funding from the Revenue 
Investment Fund and Budget Support Fund to support key policy priorities and “invest to save” 
projects. 

 
1. Background 

 
1.1 In setting its budget for 2013/14, the Council has approved the establishment of a Revenue 

Investment Fund as a resource to fund activities which support the Council's key policy 
priorities.  Further, it has approved the use of funds drawn from the Council's Budget 
Support Fund to deliver “invest to save” projects which will incur short term revenue 
expenditure in order to deliver longer term financial efficiency savings.  It is intended that the 
fund would be replenished as the first call on cashed savings and sustained to fund an 
ongoing programme of “invest to save” efficiencies. 
 

2. Issues 
 

2.1 There is a need to establish a responsive, efficient and accountable mechanism for 
considering proposals for funding from the Revenue Investment Fund and Budget Support 
Fund.  The favoured approach is an inclusive one with the establishment of a cross-party 
Cabinet panel as detailed in the proposals section below.  
 

Agenda Item 11

Page 95



3. Proposal 
 

3.1 To establish a Cabinet Panel to make recommendations in respect of the Revenue 
Investment Fund and the Budget Support Fund.  The Panel will consist of seven members 
with places being allocated in accordance with the political proportionality of the Council.  
The Group Leaders will be asked to make nominations for Members to serve on the Panel. 
 

4. Outcomes Linked to Sustainable Community Strategy and Corporate Priorities 
 

4.1 The funding of key policy priorities and invest to save projects will contribute to all the 
council’s priorities as set out in the Council Plan; 
 

• A clean, safe and sustainable Borough. 

• A Borough of opportunity. 

• A healthy and active community. 

• Becoming a co-operative council which delivers high quality, community-driven 
services. 

 
5. Legal and Statutory Implications  

 
5.1 The Local Government Act 2000 and the Constitution empowers the Executive to make 

these arrangements. 
 

6. Equality Impact Assessment 
 
There are no differential impacts in this report. 
 

7. Financial and Resource Implications 
 

7.1 Full council on 27 February 2013 established a Revenue Investment Fund of £100k as part 
of the overall budget proposals.  Depending upon the Council’s future budget position, 
further contributions to the fund may be made in the following years. 
 

7.2 Council also approved the use of the Budget Support Fund to initially finance “Invest to save” 
projects.  It was agreed that viable proposals could be financed from the Budget Support 
Fund with the fund being “repaid” out of the revenue budget as resulting savings arise.  
Once the fund has been repaid the full amount it originally financed in respect of a particular 
proposal, the savings will be retained within the revenue budget, thereby providing an 
ongoing benefit.  
 

7.3 Officer support to the Panel will be provided by the Finance team and the Business 
Improvement and Partnerships Section. 
 

8. Major Risks  
 

8.1 A full risk assessment in respect of the council’s budget for 2013/14 was included as part of 
the budget report to full council on 27 February 2013. 
 

9. Earlier Cabinet/Committee Resolutions 
 
Council 27 February 2013 – Revenue and Capital Budgets and Council Tax 2013/14. 
 

Page 96



 

 

COUNCIL PLAN 2013/14 TO 2015/16 
 
Submitted by: Head of Business Improvement and Partnerships 
 
Portfolio: Communications, Transformation & Partnerships 
 
Ward(s) affected: All 
 
 

Purpose of the Report 
 
To consider the proposed new Council Plan 2013/14 to 2015/16 
 
Recommendations 
 

• That Members note this report and the draft copy of the Council Plan for 
2013/14-2015/16 (Appended) 

• That Members approve the adoption of  the Council Plan for 2013/14 to 
2015/16 

 
Reasons 
 
The Council Plan underpins the whole planning structure of the Authority and should be the 
document which clearly informs the organisation and acts as the major driver behind any budget 
proposals, longer-term strategic plans and also the service planning process. By monitoring of the 
plan the council is able to evidence its impact over time against the planned outcomes and identify 
areas of improvement.  
 

 
1. Background and issues  

 
1.1 A new style Newcastle-under-Lyme Borough Council Plan for the period 2013/14 to 2015/16 

was proposed which replaces the Corporate Plan document due to be refreshed at this time. 
The council took the opportunity to develop the plan to reflect some of the changes in our 
political and economic environment and the work undertaken in the Performance 
Management Framework Review.  The plan has two sections and is attached in its entirety 
at appendix *. The second section details the measures and activities in order to monitor 
progress of the plan.    

 
1.2 The plan sets out the new vision for the Council: To create a borough that is prosperous, 

clean, healthy and safe. 
 

1.3 The priorities proposed set out in the plan are proposed as: 

• A clean, safe and sustainable borough, 

• A borough of opportunity, 

• A healthy and active community and 

• Becoming a co-operative council delivering high quality, community-driven services 
 

1.4 The adopted approach for the new plan was to be outcome-focused but ensuring strong 
links to the four priorities 
 

1.5 As well as forming the basis for corporate, strategic and service planning, the proposed 
Council Plan also plays a significant role in the development of the Council’s budget over the 
period covered by the Plan, as it sets out the priority areas and the desired outcomes for the 
organisation against which budget decisions can be made as part of the process of putting 
the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) together.  

Agenda Item 12

Page 97



 

 

 
2 Development  of the Council Plan and the additional Monitoring Section  
 
2.1 Officers have developed the new Council Plan, its content and layout, taking in to 

consideration the findings and information from the work undertaken earlier this year in the 
Performance Management Framework Review. To ensure  the document reflects the overall 
ambition of the council over the next three years, the following was necessary: 

• a review of the plan structure;   

• involve stakeholders in the process 

• review the  vision of the council; 

• review  the four key priorities to be relevant and meaningful;  

• review and challenge the outcomes ensuring they are linked to the priorities; 

• ensure the strategies of the council are linked to the plan; 

• acknowledge any drivers for change which impact on the content and reflect the 
developments; 

• workshops and one-to-one meetings with officers held to determine monitoring activities 
and measures.    

   
2.2 The Plan  renews the existing vision for the Council, with the new vision expressed as “to 

create a Borough that is prosperous, clean, healthy and safe”.  
  
 

2.2 The Plan articulates a change from the previous priority of “transforming our council to 
achieve excellence” by a new priority “becoming a co-operative council delivering high 
quality, community driven services”. 

  
2.3 The Plan also details a new set of seventeen outcomes and the accompanying measures 

and activities to measure and monitor the impact upon these desired outcomes. 
 

3 Consultation and other influences 
 

3.1 The vision, priorities and outcomes have been considered through various meetings and 
workshops undertaken in the Performance Management Framework Review and further 
work to complete the second section, the monitoring of the outcomes, was undertaken in 
planned workshops in September.  

 
3.2  Ongoing consultation administered and analysed by the Borough Council Communications 

Section in 2011/12 and 2012/13 has been used in the development of the plan. Also 
services undertake satisfaction surveys in-house on a regular basis to inform the 
management of service delivery.  

 
3.3 Demographic and other “profile” data, and changes observed that suggest trends, are 

covered in the section of the plan entitled “drivers for change”.   These drivers can be 
summarised as: 

 

• Our area and its people; 

• The Welfare Reform Act; 

• The Localism Act; 

• Our  local strategies; 

• Performance Management Review;  

• Making good use of public money. 

• The Way We Work;   
  
 
 

Page 98



 

 

 
4. Options, Proposal and Reasons for Preferred Solution 

 
 
4.1 Effective strategic planning benefits from a single document outlining issues and 

assumptions and stating the general direction for the organisation in question - the attached 
draft Council Plan is designed to achieve this for the future development of Newcastle under 
Lyme B.C. 

 
4.2 The Council Plan should be the document which clearly informs the council and should act 

as the major driver behind any budget proposals, longer-term strategic plans and also the 
service planning process. 

 
4.3 Members are asked to consider the Plan and this covering report. 
 
4.4 In considering the Plan/report, Members can: - 

 

• Option 1: Accept the new style Council Plan and its contents as provided    
(This is the recommended option, albeit with further modifications and additions to be made 
as required by Cabinet) 

 

• Option 2: Request significant further changes to the Plan  
(This is also recommended, although Members should be aware that this will delay the 
process of publishing the Plan and will also have an effect potentially on other related 
processes such as service planning for 2013/14 onwards) 
 

 
5. Outcomes Linked to Sustainable Community Strategy Priorities and Corporate 

Priorities  
 

5.1 This document identifies the corporate priorities of the Authority aligned to those of the 
Sustainable Community Strategy, linked to expected outcomes. 

 
 

6. Legal and Statutory Implications  
 

Officers have drafted this plan in line with current codes and legislation.   
 

7. Equality impact  
 

There are no differential impacts in this report. 
 

8. Financial and Resource Implications  
 

8.1 The plans in this report are to be considered against the overall Budget Strategy of the 
Council.  

 
9. Major risks  

 
9.1 The plans in this report are to be considered against the overall Risk Strategy of the Council.  

This is done as part of the Service and Financial Planning process.  
 

10. Key Decision information  
 

10.1 This report is in the Forward Plan.   
 

Page 99



 

 

11. List of Appendices 
 
 Draft Corporate Plan  
 
12. Background Papers 
 
 Working papers held by  officer in Council Plan 2013/14 files 
 

Page 100



Newcastle-under-Lyme
Borough Council Plan

2013 -14 to 2015 -16

www.newcastle-staffs.gov.uk
Page 101



Message
from the Leader of the Council

Councillor Gareth Snell

The Newcastle-under-Lyme Borough
Council Plan serves as the basis for

everything we do as a council. The
services we provide to our residents
and the way we go about improving
the borough are all determined by
this plan and is empowered by the
mandate the current administration
has from the people of the borough. 

With bold and ambitious plans to
make the borough the best it can be,
the plan sets out what we hope to
achieve over the next 3 years and
how we are going to turn a plan into
reality.

Councils continue to have their fund-
ing cut by Government and legislative
changes to the responsibilities of local
councils means there will be some
tough decisions ahead in the near 
future. This plan demonstrates our
commitment to protecting vital public
services and addressing the needs of
local people while keeping Council
Tax as low as possible during these
difficult times.

Overall this plan is everyone’s plan.
The outcomes and priorities are 
derived from the mandate the Labour
Party received at the ballot box and
reflect the promises we made to 
everyone. However, this plan is a living
document and we want to encourage
local people to help shape our 
borough by improving opportunities to
get involved and have a real say in the
decisions that affect their lives. 

To ensure the success of the council
and delivery of our Council Plan, we
want to make it easier for everyone to
find out about their council, talk to
their councillors, help develop their
local services, and help us tackle the
issues that are really important to you.

. . . using 

resources well 

to provide good  

public services

. . . targeting 

support for 

those who need 

it most

. . . local people 

involved and 

having a say

Councillor 

Gareth Snell

Leader of the Council

Page 102



Welcome
from the Chief Executive

We want to make the borough a
better place to live, work and

invest. 

Our Newcastle-under-Lyme Borough
Council Plan sets out how the council
will seek to achieve this over the next
three years.   

In these challenging economic times it
is important that we use resources
prudently and effectively. In producing
this plan we have reviewed the way
we do things and considered what is
important for the borough.

Our plan focuses on doing those
things which will deliver our priorities
and ensure that we continue to deliver
high quality services for our 
customers. 

John Sellgren

Chief Executive

This Council Plan takes 

account of several drivers

for change:-

•   Our area and its 

people

•   The Welfare Reform 

Act

•   Localism Act

•   Our Local strategies

•   Performance 

Management review

•   The Way We Work

•   Making good use of 

public money

Page 103



We want Newcastle-under-Lyme
to be a borough in which

people are proud to live, work, visit
and do business. Moreover, we want
the borough council to be an open,
honest and transparent organisation
which is accountable to local people
and which, through co-operation with
partners, will work together to improve
where we all live.  By trying to deliver
better services, focused on the needs
of local people, we aim to create a
council which is responsive and in
touch with the people it serves.

Priorities 

A clean, safe and 
sustainable borough

We will improve the environment so
that everyone can enjoy our safe, 
sustainable and healthy borough. 

A borough of 
opportunity

We will work with our partners to
maximise investment and encourage
enterprise and employment - 
generating activities that will create
opportunities for improving the
wealth, prosperity and housing
choices of our residents.

A healthy and active
community

We will work with partners to make
sure residents and visitors are able to
access a range of facilities and
support activities that will enable them
to improve their health and quality of
life.

Becoming a co-operative
council which delivers
high quality, community-
driven, services.

Newcastle-under-Lyme Borough
Council is working towards being a
co-operative council which means 
we are working together with our 
residents, partners and local 
organisations to collectively deliver
the best we can using the resources
we have.

Our vision
.... is to create a borough that is 

prosperous, clean, healthy and safe

“
.... safer place to 

live, work and visit with 

long-term crime rates falling 

over the last few years

”

Page 104



What is a 
co-operative council?

We are working to:-

• Bring more public services 
together so that people get what 
they need at the right place and 
the right time. 

• Encourage more involvement from 
local people and our staff in the
planning and delivery of services. 

• Support our communities better 
and encourage people to do 
more to help their own 
communities. 

Whilst we still face budget cuts, the
council is making sure local people
are more involved in reducing our
costs and challenging what we spend.

We are involving the community and
business leaders in developing our 
future plans, drawing on the skills and
expertise that exists in the borough. 

Working with our
communities

The Newcastle Partnership works with
11 Locality Action Partnerships (LAPs)
across the borough in offering 
opportunities for residents and 
communities to get involved in 
activities, engagement and decision-
making in their area.

LAPs represent the Partnership’s 
established infrastructure for the 
delivery of locality working and offer
communities enhanced and focused
access to a range of partners in order
to address and deliver against local
priorities.

. . . projects 

taking place 

in partnership 

with the 

community 

. . . LAPs 

or 'Friends of' 

groups

. . . collaborative 

working with 

our strategic 

partners

. . . partnerships

and commissioning 

arrangements 

with the 

third sector 

“
Newcastle 

is a 

co-operative  

council

”

Page 105



Drivers for change

We have many things to consider
when delivering a service to residents. 

Our area and its people

Recently released figures from the
2011 Census tell us that Newcastle’s
population has grown by 1.5 per cent
since 2001 and there are now an 
estimated 123,900 residents in the 
borough.  

Our population is ageing, with about
14 per cent more residents aged over
60 than in 2001. The biggest increase
has been amongst people aged over
85 and this is expected to grow 
further in the coming years.  This 
increasing old-age dependency ratio
will have wide ranging implications
on the economy of the borough.

Newcastle-under-Lyme continues to
become more diverse, estimates 
suggesting that around five per cent
of residents are from BME communi-
ties, compared with around two per
cent at the time of the 2001 Census.

Our borough is becoming a safer
place to live, work and visit, with
long-term crime rates falling over the
last few years.  Reports of anti-social
behaviour have also been falling
steadily over the past four years.

Residents are happy with Newcastle-
under-Lyme as a place to live but in
some areas the fear of crime remains
a concern despite falling crime rates.

The economic downturn has meant
that there has been a seven per cent
reduction in the number of jobs in the
borough between 2006-2010, 
meaning that there are now around
3,200 fewer jobs.  

Despite this, the rate of unemploy-
ment is not particularly high when
compared to the national picture.
However, long-term worklessness and
benefit dependency due to ill-health
remains a problem.

Business start up rates in Newcastle
are relatively low, but survival rates
for those that do get off the ground
are relatively good.

The Welfare Reform Act

The Act provides for the introduction
of a Universal Credit to replace a
range of existing means-tested 
benefits and tax credits for people of
working age, starting from April
2013. 

This is the Government’s proposals for
reforming welfare to improve work 
incentives, simplify the benefits system
and tackle administrative complexity.
Besides introducing Universal Credit
and related measures, the Bill makes
other significant changes to the 
benefits system.

“
Residents 

are happy with 

Newcastle 

as a place 

to live

”

Page 106



Localism isn't simply about giving
power back to local government but
to individuals, neighbourhoods, 
professionals and communities as 
well as local councils and other local 
institutions - close to the people who
are affected by the decisions. 

The Localism Bill includes five key
measures that underpin the Govern-
ment's approach to decentralisation:-

• Community Rights

New community rights will ensure that
community organisations have the
Right to Challenge by expressing an
interest in the running of a local 
authority service. Communities can
also bid to take over land and 
buildings that are important to them
through the Right to Bid.

• Neighbourhood Planning

New rights will allow local comm-
unities to shape new development by
coming together to prepare neigh-
bourhood plans.

• Housing

This will mean that more decisions are
taken locally, allowing councils to 
decide how best to help their homeless
people, improve  their housing alloca-
tions and give direction to providers
on the type of tenancies suitable to
better meet local housing needs.

• General power of 
competence

Councils will be able to take action
and get on with things they think will
benefit their local area. The new
power will give councils the freedom
to work together to improve services,
drive down costs and enhance their
local area.

• Empowering cities and 
other local areas

The Act enables the transfer of public
functions to local authorities in order
to improve local accountability or
promote economic growth. 

Localism Act

The Localism Bill was 

introduced to Parliament

in December 2010 and

shifts power from central

government into the

hands of individuals,

communities and 

councils.

Page 107



Local Strategies

Newcastle-under-Lyme Borough
Council has three main strategies
linked to its priorities:-

• Economic Development Strategy

• Stronger and Safer Communities 
Strategy

• Health and Wellbeing Strategy

These strategies show how the council
is planning to work with partners and
other organisations to improve and
develop local communities to deliver
our vision for the borough.

The Way We Work (TWWW)

This project was established in Janu-
ary 2011 and stemmed from the
council’s Transformation Programme.
Our aim was to focus resources and
energy on four key projects in order to
achieve efficiencies:-

• Review the way the council uses 
its accommodation/offices. 

• Home working. 

• Flexible working. 

• Electronic document and records 
management system.

Examples of areas of work within
these projects included:-

q Expand home working opportuni-
ties for staff to deliver more 
efficiencies.

q Improving mobile working by 
giving officers in the field access 
to the right technology.

q Improving our Civic Hub to make 
public services more accessible 
and joined up.

q Reducing paper by scanning 
documents and using/storing 
them electronically.

q Becoming more energy efficient.

Work undertaken beneath the
TWWW heading is now being taken
forward in relation to a new 
programme of work focused on how
we work with our customers and re-
spond to the government’s Welfare
Reform a  genda.

Making good use of 
public money

Having to do more with less means
we will be looking more creatively at
how we provide, and deliver, our 
services over the next four years - on
our own and together with our 
partners in the public, private and
voluntary sectors.  We will undertake
a strategic review of our assets -
working hard to keep Council Tax
low, maximising our resources and
seeking efficiencies in everything we
do.

Performance 
Management Review

The council is always looking to 
improve the way it delivers services
and will make the best use of 
information to target services to
groups and individuals in our 
communities in the most efficient and
effective way. To do this effectively we
need to ensure that we are clear
about what specific outcomes we
want to achieve.  

We have recently reviewed our 
approach to performance manage-
ment to ensure that we focus much
more on the outcomes that we want to
achieve, and how we measure our
progress. 

Page 108



Priorities, Outcomes 
and Activities

In this section we have set out, under
each of our priorities, the outcomes

that we are committed to delivering.  

For each of the outcomes you will
find:-

• An explanation of why improved 
outcomes are needed.

• Activities we will be undertaking 
over the next three years to 
achieve improvements.

• Performance indicators we will 
use to measure our success.

• A list of targets, linked to each 
indicator, showing how we 
propose to deliver the improve-
ments over the next three years.

By 2016 the borough will look and
feel like this:-

A clean, safe and
sustainable borough

Outcomes:-

• Levels of safety will have 
improved, along with standards 
of public health.

• Newcastle will be safer with 
vulnerable victims of crime and 
disorder receiving high quality 
support.

• The negative impact that the 
council, residents and local 
businesses have on the 
environment will have reduced.

• Our streets and open spaces will 
be clean, clear and tidy.

• Town centres across the borough 
will be sustainable and safe.

A borough of 
opportunity

Outcomes:-

• Levels of worklessness will have 
reduced.

• Local people will be able to 
access opportunities for personal 
development and growth. 

• Housing will be available and 
accessible to meet a range of 
diverse needs.

• Key parts of the borough will 
have been regenerated and there 
will have been overall economic 
growth.

Page 109



A healthy and active
community

Outcomes:-

• People who live work, visit or 
study in the borough will have 
access to high quality facilities.

• Levels of cultural activity and 
participation in the arts will have 
increased.

• There will be a range of healthy 
lifestyle choices, resulting in an 
increase in participation in sport 
and physical activity.

A co-operative 
council delivering
high quality, 
community-driven,
services.

Outcomes:-

• The council will have increased 
the capacity and skills of its 
workforce.

• Councillors will be community 
champions and powerful 
community advocates.

• The council will have delivered 
further efficiencies.

• Local communities are engaged 
and able to shape and deliver 
services which impact on their 
lives.

• Increasing the resilience in 
communities by building effective 
and strong partnerships across 
the borough and utilising public 
and community resources.

Page 110



Priority 1:   A clean, safe and sustainable borough

Outcome 1.1 
Levels of safety will have improved,
along with standards of public health

Why are the improvements needed? 

The council has a duty to protect the public's health and
improve the general quality of life where possible.

We know that . . . 

l people are injured on the roads

l people suffer food poisoning

l past historic industries may have caused contaminated 
land

You told us that . . . 

l you want safer places to eat

l you are concerned about the danger of unrepaired 
housing

l you want roads that are safe for the everyone to use

Outcome 1.2 
Newcastle will be safer with vulnerable
victims of crime and disorder receiving
high quality support

Why are the improvements needed? 

To offer an optimum service to reassure, support and 
protect vulnerable people in the borough.

We know that . . . 

l too many people suffering from incidents of crime and 
anti-social behaviour are vulnerable because they are 
subject to this repeated behaviour

l some victims are more vulnerable than others and need 
more support

l early intervention is key in tackling and positively 
resolving incidences 

You told us that . . . 

l you want to live in a community where you feel safe 

l you want to know that services are available to support 
and help when needed

Performance indicators to measure success
in delivering the outcome

l Number of people killed or seriously injured on the 
borough’s roads (1.1.1)

l Percentage of food premises that have a zero or one 
national food hygiene rating. (1.1.2)

l The amount of contaminated land that has been 
remediated and is now in use (1.1.3)

l Percentage of Category 1 housing disrepair hazards 
concerns brought to the attention of the Council that 
are investigated and addressed (1.1.4)

l The number of food establishments which are broadly 
compliant with good hygiene law (1.1.5)

Performance indicators to measure success
in delivering the outcome

l Level of satisfaction with the support provided to 
vulnerable citizens (1.2.1)

l Number of interventions to support vulnerable citizens 
and victims of crime (1.2.2)

l Reduction in incidents of violence with injury, anti-social 
behaviour, serious acquisitive crime and domestic 
violence (1.2.3-6)

Activities aimed at delivering the outcome:

l Respond to outbreaks of food poisoning to try to 
prevent spread and reoccurrence

l Contaminated land strategy reviewed and published in 
2013

l Continue to inspect food businesses in our planned 
programme to ensure they are safe to eat

l A new Public Health Strategy to be produced

Activities aimed at delivering the outcome:

l Review Anti-Social Behaviour policy 2013

l Work with partner organisations and key groups, 
together with communities to deal with crime and raise 
awareness of support services for the public

l Domestic Violence - Early Intervention Worker recruited 
to support services

l Continuation of funding for Anti-Social Behaviour 
Victims Worker

l Develop the existing multi-agency conference system to 
address the problems faced by vulnerable people

Page 111



Priority 1:   A clean, safe and sustainable borough

Outcome 1.3 
The negative impact that the Council,
residents and local businesses have on
the environment will have reduced 

Why are the improvements needed? 

We know that . . . 

l too many carbon emissions is harmful to the 
environment and impacts on the quality of life for 
residents and visitors alike

l to reduce excess waste the council needs to work with 
residents and businesses to minimise residual waste 
year on year

You told us that . . . 

l you are concerned about the future of the environment

l you want to maintain the level of the council’s national 
award winning recycling service

l you would want recycling to be reprocessed in the UK

l you would also like to see other types of recycling 
introduced such as small appliances

Outcome 1.4 
Our streets and open spaces will be
clean, clear and tidy

Why are the improvements needed? 

Research has demonstrated that there are clear cross-
cutting links between local environmental quality and other
policy agendas;

l Clean, safe, green infrastructure has a vital role in 
ensuring mental and physical health. 

l Good design and high standards of maintenance and 
cleansing are vital in reducing anti-social behaviour 
and other environmental crime

We know that . . . 

l too much litter and detritus in the area does not attract 
people to live, work and invest in the area

You told us that . . . 

l you are generally satisfied with the cleanliness of our 
streets and parks and open spaces but there are “hot 
spots” which need to be improved

Performance indicators to measure success
in delivering the outcome

l The amount of residual waste per household (1.3.1)

l Percentage of household waste sent for reuse, recycling 
and composting (1.3.2)

l The amount of carbon emissions by the Council (1.3.3)

l The number of non-residential collections covered by 
the trade waste recycling scheme - includes Council 
properties and schools (1.3.4)

l The level of air quality (1.3.5)

l Number of general nuisance complaints (1.3.6)

Performance indicators to measure success
in delivering the outcome

l Levels of street and environment cleanliness (LEQ 
survey) free / predominantly free of litter, detritus, 
graffiti and fly-posting) (1.4.1)

l Number of community volunteer groups/hours spent 
caring for their local green spaces and neighbourhoods 
(1.4.2)

l Quality standards achieved eg Britain in Bloom, Green 
Flag Awards (1.4.3)

l Satisfaction with cleanliness of streets and green spaces 
(1.4.4)

Activities aimed at delivering the outcome:

l Continue to monitor air quality in the borough, consult 
with residents on findings and devise plans for 
monitoring and control of air quality

l Continue to investigate and take action in respect of 
nuisance identified in the borough

l Investigate and implement the kerbside collection of 
small electrical appliances and batteries

l Establish a trial recycling service for businesses and 
community buildings

Activities aimed at delivering the outcome:

l LEQ surveys (3 per year) and resultant action plan to 
tackle hot spots

l Environmental Education and Enforcement Action Plan

l Community engagement and participation in caring for 
local green spaces and neighbourhoods

l Service challenge and review to ensure resources are 
deployed effectively and efficiently to tackle cleanliness 
issues

Page 112



Priority 1:   A clean, safe and sustainable borough

Outcome 1.5 
Town centres across the borough will
be sustainable and safe 

Why are the improvements needed? 

The town centres within the borough play a vital role in
providing employment, local services and entertainment for
residents and visitors. The challenge is to ensure each 
centre remains sustainable and safe despite any economic
downturn. For economic growth there is a need to work
with other agencies and partnerships to keep the town 
centres as safe as possible and that crime is kept at a low
level. 

We know that . . . 

l you value the town centres and want the council to 
ensure they remain vibrant and attractive - visually and 
economically

l it is important to develop town centres for the future

You told us that . . . 

l regeneration for the borough’s town centres is 
important to you

l you are concerned about levels of crime

l you are also concerned about visiting the town centre 
at night

Performance indicators to measure success
in delivering the outcome

l Town centre vacancy rate (1.5.1)

l Percentage of investment portfolio (NBC owned) vacant 
(1.5.2)

l Levels of crimes in our town centres (1.5.3)

l Level of safety of town centres as indicated by residents 
(1.5.4)

l The level of town centre attractiveness as indicated by 
residents (1.5.5)

Activities aimed at delivering the outcome:

l Town centre partnership established in Kidsgrove and 
Newcastle and town plans developed

l Scoping exercise to be undertaken of footfall within the 
town centre

l To take forward the retail-led redevelopment of the 
former Sainsbury/Ryecroft site.

l Completion of public realm improvements in the town 
centre and introduction of new market stalls

l Complete the gating off of problematic alleyways under 
the Green Routes scheme

l Attain a purple flag for the safety of night time 
economy

Page 113



Priority 2:   A borough of opportunity

Outcome 2.1 
Levels of worklessness will have 
reduced

Why are the improvements needed? 

The level of unemployment in the borough is 2.6% at
November 2012 which is lower than the regional and
national rates. Amongst people aged 18 to 24 years the
level increases to 4% (compared to 8.7% in the West 
Midlands and 7% in Great Britain).

We know that . . . 

l    it is key to raise skill levels to help drive enterprise, to 
create more and better jobs

l training opportunities for people to develop and gain 
confidence is essential

You told us that . . . 

l you are concerned about levels of worklessness in the 
borough

Outcome 2.2 
Local people will be able to access 
opportunities for personal development
and growth

Why are the improvements needed? 

The council understands the importance of working wih
partners to ensure there are opportuninties available to 
access to support development. 

We know that . . . 

l it is important to provide a wide range of activities to 
support our communities

l volunteering activities need to be encouraged and 
supported

You told us that . . . 

l you are concerned whether opportunities will be limited 
in the future

Performance indicators to measure success
in delivering the outcome

l The level of employment in the borough  (2.1.1) 

l The number of jobs created by Council-backed 
initiatives in the borough (2.1.2)

l The percentage of people of working age claiming 
benefits (2.1.3)

l The level of NEETs (2.1.4)

Performance indicators to measure success
in delivering the outcome

l The number (or percentage) of people obtaining NVQ 
levels (2.2.1)

l The number of people gaining additional educational 
qualifications as a result of Council-backed initiatives 
(2.2.2) 

l The number of volunteers used by the council/taken on 
by the council who go on to gain employment (2.2.3)

l Narrative on the impact of the Council’s role as 
employer of volunteers (2.2.4)

l Number of organisations working with the council to 
take on volunteers (2.2.5)

l Number of hours worked by volunteers in council  
co-ordinated activities (2.2.6) 

Activities aimed at delivering the outcome:

l Plans to encourage enterprise wthin the borough to be 
developed

l Town Centre Partnership action plan 

l Work with the “Make it” initiative

l Support given to unemployed by the Newcastle 
Business Enterprise Coach

Activities aimed at delivering the outcome:

l Work with Newcastle Employment and Skills Group 
(NESG) to identify areas for improvement and further 
opportunities 

Page 114



Priority 2:   A borough of opportunity

Outcome 2.3 
Housing will be available and accessible
to meet a range of diverse needs

Why are the improvements needed? 

Housing is most frequently cited in terms of its appropri-
ateness and affordability. 

Appropriate housing meets the needs of residents in terms
of size, physical attributes and location. Affordable hous-
ing includes affordable rented and intermediate housing,
provided to specific eligible households whose needs are
not met by the market. With many local residents unable
to access a home that meets their needs, it is important
that the council works with local housing providers to de-
liver needed accommodation. 

We know that . . . 

l there is a lack of suitable available housing in the 
borough

l there are nearly 3,000 households on the housing 
register wanting affordable housing

You told us that . . . 

l you prefer affordable longer term tenancies with 
greater security 

l you are concerned about homelessness

l you are concerned about increasing fuel bills and want 
to be able to keep your home warm

Performance indicators to measure success
in delivering the outcome

l The number of affordable homes provided as a result 
of partnership working with Registered Providers and 
the Homes & Communities Agency (2.3.1)

l The net number of additional homes provided (2.3.2)  

l Number of empty properties brought back into use 
(2.3.3)

l Percentage of referrals for Disabled Facilities Grants 
(DFG) approved within six months (2.3.4)  

l Percentage of minor adaptations delivered within four 
months (2.3.5)

l Number of homelessness cases prevented (2.3.6)

Activities aimed at delivering the outcome:

l Partnership working with Registered Providers and the 
Homes and Communities Agency to deliver new 
affordable housing in line with the Local Investment Plan

l Delivery of new homes at Charter Road

l Encouragement and support to private home owners to 
return their empty properties back into use

l Development of Eco brokerage service

Page 115



Priority 2:   A borough of opportunity

Outcome 2.4 
Key parts of the borough will have
been regenerated and there will have
been overall economic growth

Why are the improvements needed? 

To enable further growth of the borough, the council needs
to attract inward investment from the private sector.  To 
facilitate this the Council will work with the private sector
and partners to bring forward suitable and viable 
development opportunities.

We know that . . . 

l to provide more employment opportunities, more suitable
development sites to attract investment are needed

You told us that . . . 

l regeneration in the borough is important to you 

Performance indicators to measure success
in delivering the outcome

l Level of economic health across the borough (2.4.1)

l Percentage of investment portfolio which is vacant 
(2.4.2)

l Small and medium sized enterprises (SMEs) showing 
employement growth (2.4.3)

l Buildings within the built heritage asset register 
improved and no longer at risk (2.4.4)

l Number of proposed jobs from successful planning 
applications (2.4.5)

l Rate of new VAT business registration (2.4.6)

l Average stall occupancy rate for markets (2.4.7)

Activities aimed at delivering the outcome:

l Work with Make It inward investment service for 
Stoke-on-Trent and Staffordshire to promote the area 
for inward investment  

l Bring forward attractive development sites 

l Marketing of specific development opportunities

l Work with Business Enterprise Support (BES) to help in 
the delivery of its enterprise support scheme

l Delivery of the Annual Newcastle Business Boost 
competition 

l Consultation to be undertaken by the council with 
communities on a draft Site Allocation Policies Local 
Plan 

l Develop coordinated enterprise strategy  

l Support development of the emergent knowledge 
intensive sectors 

l Support development of professional and business 
services sectors 

l Make the most of the Borough’s successful logistics 
sector    

l Promote further development of Keele Science and 
Business Park    

Page 116



Priority 3:   A healthy and active community

Outcome 3.1 
People who live work, visit or study in
the borough will have access to high
quality facilities

Why are the improvements needed? 

The Council is committed to ensuring there are high 
quality facilities available to residents and visitors to the
borough. Significant capital development at J2 has 
resulted in increased participation and substantial 
operational revenue savings. 

We know that . . . 

l it is important to recognise the vital role that being 
active plays in the lives of everyone

l access to well equipped and safe facilities is important

You told us that . . . 

l you want quality and affordable leisure services

l you want open spaces and parks to be safe places to 
visit 

Outcome 3.2 
Levels of cultural activity and 
participation in the arts will have 
increased 

Why are the improvements needed? 

Involvement in artistic and cultural activities is beneficial
physically, mentally and emotionally for young and older
people.

We know that . . . 

l the cultural facilities contribute significantly to the 
economy of the borough

l it is important for the council to encourage cultural 
activity in the borough to ensure people can enhance 
their life experiences

You told us that . . . 

l the availability of local events and facilities to visit are 
important in your lives

Performance indicators to measure success
in delivering the outcome

l Number of parks which have green flag status (3.1.1) 

l Level of satisfaction with Council-run parks and open 
spaces (3.1.2)

l Level of satisfaction with Council-run a) leisure and 
b) cultural services (3.1.3) 

l Level of satisfaction with Council-owned car parking 
facilities (3.1.4)

l Levels of satisfaction with bereavement services (3.1.5)

l Level of service quality of the two main Council 
information centres – Guildhall and Kidsgrove (3.1.6)

l Percentage of town centres public toilets that meet the 
Council’s minimum standard for quality and cleanliness 
(3.1.7)

Performance indicators to measure success
in delivering the outcome

l Visitor satisfaction (3.2.1)

l Number of people visiting museums (3.2.2)

l Number of people attending local theatres (3.2.3) 

l Economic impact of visitors to museums (3.2.4)

l Impact of volunteer development programme (3.2.5)

l Impact of community-run cultural events and people 
attending (3.2.6)

Activities aimed at delivering the outcome:

l Full feasibility study developed for the refurbishment/ 
replacement of Kidsgrove Sports centre

l Complete the review of community centres

l Develop outline business case for future management/ 
governance of leisure and cultural services

Activities aimed at delivering the outcome:

l Programme of cultural events and exhibitions

l Development programme for volunteers

l Multi-agency Arts Strategy to be developed

l Feasibility study into the development of the museum to 
meet future aspirations

Page 117



Priority 3:   A healthy and active community

Outcome 3.3 
There will be a range of healthy lifestyle
choices, resulting in an increase in par-
ticipation in sport and physical activity

Why are the improvements needed? 

The council wants to incentivise people to adopt healthier
lifestyles. 

We know that . . . 

l too many people do not exercise on a regular basis 

l well equipped, accessible and affordable facilities are 
necessary 

You told us that . . . 

l leisure facilities and play areas are very important to 
you 

Performance indicators to measure success
in delivering the outcome

l The percentage of primary school children who are 
categorised as obese (3.3.1)

l The number of referrals from GPs to organised 
sporting activity (3.3.2) 

l Percentage of people referred for exercise by GPs 
whose health improves (3.3.3)

l The number of teenage pregnancies (3.3.4)

l The number of premature deaths (3.3.5) 

Activities aimed at delivering the outcome:

l Sportivate programme to encourage younger people to 
participate in physical activities

l Sportmakers programme to increase adult participation

l Healthy walk programme

l Delivery of programme of healthy initiatives with 
partners including:

GP referral scheme

Cardiac rehabilitation scheme

Joint/muscle mobility exercise 

l Allotment policy review

l Delivery of improvement projects to outdoor 
sport facilities

Page 118



Priority 4:   A co-operative Council, delivering high-value, 
community-driven services

Outcome 4.1 
The Council will have increased the 
capacity and skills of its workforce

Why are the improvements needed? 

In order to maintain high levels of service and deliver 
efficiencies, the capacity and skills of our existing 
workforce need to continue to be developed. 

We know that . . . 

l our customers expect a high standard of service when 
they contact the council

l our customers want easy access to multiple agency 
services at convenient locations. Joint working and 
engagement with partners in day to day service 
delivery provides a valuable learning environment that 
improves the skills of the joint workforce 

You told us that . . . 

l you are concerned that services may suffer as a result 
of the economy 

Outcome 4.2 
Councillors will be community 
champions and powerful community
advocates

Why are the improvements needed? 

Communities need representation and support in order to
empower their communities.

We know that . . . 

l Good communication is necessary to understand the 
needs of communities of the borough and also to 
ensure that the council delivers clear, transparent 
messages of what they have achieved or want to 
improve upon

You told us that . . . 

l you want to know what is planned which will impact 
upon your community

Performance indicators to measure success
in delivering the outcome

l Number of apprenticeships/ shared apprenticeship 
placements offered (4.1.1)

l Percentage of workforce with completed learning and 
development plans (4.1.2)

l Percentage of staff who have completed accredited 
training courses (4.1.3)

l Number of e-learning modules completed (4.1.4) 

l Percentage of staff who feel they have the necessary 
skills/competencies to do their job effectively (4.1.5)

Performance indicators to measure success
in delivering the outcome

l Percentage of elected members who have a personal 
development plan (4.2.1)

l Impact of actions from the work plan (4.2.2)

l Percentage attendance at planned meetings by 
members (4.2.3) 

l Number of issues raised by members (4.2.4)

l Percentage of candidates and agents satisfied/
very satisfied with electoral service (4.2.5)

Activities aimed at delivering the outcome:

l Delivery of the Workforce Development Plan

l Develop a Shared Apprenticeship Scheme with partners

l Development of e-learning facilities

l Increasing the ways in which customers can contact us, 
by providing greater choice - developing self service, 
web services, SMS, email and other means of contact - 
linked to customer need

l Deliver further customer service training to continue to 
meet Customer Service Excellence standards.

l Programme of skills development for ICT to ensure we 
maximise the benefits of existing and new technology

Activities aimed at delivering the outcome:

l Delivery of Scrutiny work plan

l Training programme for members

Page 119



Priority 4:   A co-operative Council, delivering high-value, 
community-driven services

Outcome 4.3 
The Council will have delivered further
efficiencies

Why are the improvements needed? 

We want to ensure services are delivered efficiently and
of high quality to its customers. The council strives to 
deliver effective services within the restraints of its budget. 

We know that . . . 

l the economic downturn may impact upon the council 
and add further pressure to its budget with a greater 
demand for its services. 

You told us that . . . 

l you are concerned about the council being more 
efficient and effective

Performance indicators to measure success
in delivering the outcome

l Percentage of planned procurement efficiencies 
achieved (4.3.1) 

l Percentage projected variance against full year council 
budget (4.3.2) 

l Average number of days per employee lost to 
sickness (4.3.3)

l Percentage of residents who feel that the Council is 
providing VFM (4.3.4)

l Achieving a balanced budget (4.3.5)

l Percentage return on council investments (4.3.6)

l Ratio of planned versus responsive maintenance 
expenditure on all Council owned buildings (4.3.7)

l Net income collected from Council assets (4.3.8)

Activities aimed at delivering the outcome:

l Medium Term Financial Strategy reviewed annually 
and reported

l Monthly budget monitoring programme

l Delivery of the Procurement (Strategic) work plan 

Page 120



Priority 4:   A co-operative Council, delivering high-value, 
community-driven services

Outcome 4.4 
Local communities are engaged and
able to shape and deliver services
which impact on their lives

Why are the improvements needed? 

To impact on solving problems of everyday life in local
communities,  the people need to be able to see how their
views can shape the solutions that will make a lasting 
difference in the way services are delivered. In doing this
the Council will be an open, honest and transparent 
organisation which undertakes regular consultation with 
its residents and listens to their views.

We know that . . . 

l different communities have problems to face unique to 
their neighbourhood

l support is necessary to encourage engagement

l communication within a community and involvement of 
stakeholders is key to solving solutions

You told us that . . . 

l you do not always feel you have the confidence or skills 
necessary to be involved or influence decision making 
in your community

Performance indicators to measure success
in delivering the outcome

l Level of satisfaction with the role of the Council in 
supporting communities to solve local problems, as 
indicated by local people (4.4.1)

l Level of satisfaction with the Council’s support to 
communities, as indicated by partner organisations 
(4.4.2)

l The impact of the Council’s support  in empowering 
communities to solve specific local problems (4.4.3)

l The overall level of satisfaction with the Council as a 
provider of services (4.4.4)

l Percentage of people who feel that they can influence 
Council decisions

l Level of satisfaction with the support provided to LAPs 
and other community groups to improve their 
organisational strength (4.4.5)

l Increase the number of residents, community and 
voluntary groups engaged with LAPs (4.4.6)

l Percentage of requests resolved at first point of contact 
(4.4.7)

Activities aimed at delivering the outcome:

l Support to groups from funded infrastructure project

l Develop communities around the localism agenda

l Focus on dealing with troubled families and enhancing 
community involvement and self-reliance

l Further Community Pride events to deal with community 
issues

Page 121



Priority 4:   A co-operative Council, delivering high-value, 
community-driven services

Outcome 4.5 
Increasing the resilience in communities
by building effective and strong part-
nerships across the borough, and utilis-
ing public and community resources

Why are the improvements needed? 

In order to deliver appropriate and optimum services to
the people of the borough it is necessary for the council to
continue to work with existing partners and develop
strong new partnerships across all sectors. Also, the 
Borough Council recognises that the priorities set by the
council cannot be delivered by the council alone.   

We know that . . . 

l strong partnerships are necessary to progress our 
outcomes effectively 

You told us that . . . 

l you would like to see more partnership working 
involving the council

Performance indicators to measure success
in delivering the outcome

l Community/citizen satisfaction levels increased (4.5.1)

l Communities feel they are able to influence decisions 
(4.5.2)

l Engagement with LAPs increased (4.5.3)

l Quality of service delivery (4.5.4)

l Knowledge amongst public about co-operative 
approaches (4.5.5)

l Decrease in anti-social behaviour levels and domestic 
violence - linked to LWT project (4.5.6)

l People feeling safe in their homes and fear of crime 
lessened (4.5.7)

Activities aimed at delivering the outcome:

l Investigate opportunities to develop a Social Enterprise 
with key partner agencies

l Build on relationships with the voluntary and community 
sector in delivering key services to local people

l Deliver the Lets Work Together (LWT) project in 
partnership with others

l Develop and implement a Co-operative Strategy for the 
council with other key stakeholders

l Develop health promotion work in areas of greatest 
need

l Map vulnerability across the Borough and its 
neighbourhoods to target services more effectively

l Welfare reform - to be delivered with partners 

Page 122


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Last Meeting
	4 Irrecoverable Items
	04(b) - Appendix A - Collection Procedures(C) - EXEMPT
	04(c) - Appendix B - Irrecoverable Items - EXEMPT

	5 Telecoms Contracts Consolidation
	6 Localism Act - Community Right to Challenge and Community Right to Bid
	06(b) - APPENDIX A - Excluded Services
	06(c) - APPENDIX B - Refusing an Expression of Interest
	06(d) - APPENDIX C - Community Right to Challenge
	06(e) - APPENDIX D - Indicative Timetable
	06(f) - APPENDIX E - Application Form
	06(g) - APPENDIX F - Who May Nominate
	06(h) - APPENDIX G - Definition of an Asset
	06(i) - APPENDIX H - Community Asset Flow
	06(j) - APPENDIX I - Assets of Community Value Registration Form
	06(k) - APPENDIX J - Listing of Assets Procedure
	06(l) - APPENDIX K - Assets Register

	7 Apprenticeships
	07(b) - Appendix A - Apprenticeship Shared Partnership Scheme 2012-13

	8 Affordable Housing Regeneration Partnership
	9 Home Energy Conservation Act 1995 Progress Report - March 2013-2015
	09(b) - Home Energy Conservation Act - appendix

	10 Newcastles of the World Alliance
	11 Establishment of Cabinet Panel
	12 Council Plan 2013-16
	12(b) - Council Plan 2013-16 - appendix


